UC Santa Barbara

UC Santa Barbara Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Impacts of Natural Temperature Variation and Heatwaves on Coastal Marine Invertebrates

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/8pz3r3ff

Author

Chamorro, Jannine D.

Publication Date

2023

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Santa Barbara

Impacts of Natural Temperature Variation and Heatwaves on Coastal Marine Invertebrates

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in Ecology, Evolution, and Marine Biology

by

Jannine D. Chamorro

Committee in charge:

Professor Gretchen Hofmann, Chair

Professor Erika Eliason

Professor Nick Nidzieko

December 2023

The dissertation of Jannine D. Chamorro is approved.

Nick Nidzieko

Erika Eliason

Gretchen Hofmann, Committee Chair

December 2023

Impacts of Natural Temperature Variation and Heatwaves on Coastal Marine Invertebrates

Copyright © 2023

by

Jannine D. Chamorro

ACKNOWLGEMENTS

The work accomplished in this dissertation and my growth as a scientist was made possible through the support of many faculty, peers, friends, and family. First, I want to thank my advisor Dr. Gretchen Hofmann. You have created a wonderfully collaborative working environment filled with diverse voices working together to answer complex scientific questions. No project ever seemed too big for the Hofmann lab team. Your unwavering support allowed me to achieve more than I ever thought I could. I would also like to thank my other committee members Drs. Erika Eliason and Nick Nidzieko for your valuable feedback and guidance.

I want to thank the past and present members of Hofmann lab for filling this oftenchallenging work with laughter and comradery. Drs. Marie Strader and Juliet Wong, you are both brilliant, kind, and the most hardworking people I know, I hope to be half the scientist both are one day. Dr. Umi Hoshijima, you are ever-present, your individuality always inspires me to bring my whole self to science. Dr. Xochitl Clare, your productivity and passion for science communication is inspiring. Dr. Samuel Bogan you are one of the smartest and most compassionate people I know. I learn something new after every conversation with you. Maddie Housh, no one quite gets me like you do. I am so thankful to have started my Ph.D. with you in the lab. Amelia Ritger you are driven, fearless, and a great friend. I can always come to you to talk about my personal interests that others did not find very interesting. Erin de Leon Sanchez your tenacity and constant willingness to help others is admirable, I know I can always count on you. Leeza-Marie Rodriguez you made the lab feel like home, a feeling that I did not know was missing until you arrived. Lastly, thank you to the three individuals that were integral to my success as a scientist. Dr. Terence Leach,

iv

you are thoughtful and generous, and you have whole heartedly helped me in all facets of life. Dr. Logan Kozal you are unbelievably intelligent, resourceful, courageous, and all things good. I strive to be more like you. Adriane McDonald you are creative, insightful, and brilliant. I am grateful every day to have you as a colleague and friend.

Lastly, thank you to the loves of my life. To my mom, Aida Loza, you always believe in me and never question the size or direction of my dreams. You provided relentless support throughout my life, and I would not be where I am today without you. And to my partner, Dasun Hemachandra, you have been on this entire journey with me, through late nights, early mornings, rain, or shine. You are the most supportive and wonderful partner I could ask for.

VITA OF JANNINE D. CHAMORRO

December 2023

EDUCATION

- 2017- present University of California Santa Barbara (UCSB), Santa Barbara, CA Ph.D. Candidate in Ecology, Evolution, and Marine Biology (EEMB) Advisor: Professor Gretchen Hofmann Expected Graduation Date: December 2023
- 2013-2015 **University of California Davis, Davis, CA** B.S. Animal Biology, with honors
- 2010-2013 College of the Canyons, Valencia, CA

FELLOWSHIPS & AWARDS

2022	National Science Foundation (NSF) Alliances for Graduate Education and the Professoriate - California Hispanic Serving Institutions Alliance Fellowship
2021	UCSB Society for the Advancement of Chicanos/Hispanics and Native Americans in Science (SACNAS) Graduate Scholarship
2020	UCSB Associated Students Coastal Fund Grant
2020	Schmidt Family Foundation - Research Accelerator Award
2019	SACNAS Travel Scholarship
2019	PADI Foundation Grant
2019	NSF Graduate Research Fellowship
2019	UCSB Graduate Opportunity Fellowship
2018	UCSB Ecology, Evolution, and Marine Biology Block Grant
2017	Ecology, Evolution, and Marine Biology Departmental Graduate Fellowship

PUBLICATIONS

- **Chamorro, J.D.**, McDonald, A.M., & Hofmann, G.E. (2023) Transgenerational plasticity as a mechanism of response to marine heatwaves in the purple sea urchin, *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus. Frontiers in Marine Science*. 10:1212781. doi:10.3389/fmars.2023.1212781
- Strader, M.E., Kozal, L.C., Leach, T.S., Wong, J.M., Chamorro, J.D., Housh, M.J., & Hofmann, G.E. (2020) Examining the role of DNA Methylation in transcriptomic plasticity of early-stage sea urchins: Developmental and maternal effects in kelp forest herbivore. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 7:205. doi:10.3389/fmars.2020.00205

PRESENTATIONS

- **Chamorro, J.D.** & Hofmann, G.E. Field acclimatization of adults influences offspring performance in the rocky intertidal mussel, *Mytilus californianus*. Oral Presentation. Western Society of Naturalists. Nov 9-12, 2023.
- Chamorro, J.D., Clare, X., Detmer, R., Michaud, K.M., McDonald, A.M., Stier, A.C., Bell, T.W., Moeller, H.V., Hofmann, G.E., Reed, D.C., & Miller, R.J. Benthic community and organismal response to disturbance in Santa Barbara Channel kelp forests. Poster. LTER All Scientists' Meeting. Sep 20-22, 2022.
- **Chamorro, J.D.** & Hofmann, G.E. Examining transgenerational effects in natural populations of California mussels (*Mytilus californianus*). Oral Presentation. Western Society of Naturalists. Virtual Meeting. Nov 11-14, 2021.
- **Chamorro, J.D.**, McDonald, A.M, & Hofmann, G.E. Examining the acclimatory response across and within a generation of purple sea urchins (*Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*) under a simulated marine heatwave. Oral Presentation. NDiSTEM SACNAS Meeting. Virtual Meeting. Oct 25-29, 2021.
- **Chamorro, J.D.** & Hofmann, G.E. Feeling hot, hot, hot: The impacts of marine heatwaves on intertidal mussels along the Santa Barbara Channel. Poster. UCSB EEMB Graduate Student Symposium. Virtual Meeting. Feb 6-7, 2021.
- **Chamorro, J.D.**, Hickman, R. & Hofmann, G.E. It's gettin' hot in here: Impacts of marine heatwaves on rocky intertidal zone temperatures and mussels. Oral Presentation. Western Society of Naturalists. Virtual Meeting. Nov 5-7, 2020.
- **Chamorro, J.D.**, Kozal, L.C. & Hofmann, G.E. Exploring plasticity-associated traits across life history stages of intertidal mussels (*Mytilus californianus*) in the context of warming oceans. Poster. Ocean Sciences Meeting. San Diego, CA. Feb 16 -21, 2020.
- **Chamorro, J.D.**, Kozal, L.C. & Hofmann, G.E. Investigating potential mechanisms of intragenerational and transgenerational plasticity in intertidal mussels (*Mytilus californianus*). Poster. SACNAS Meeting. Honolulu, HI. Oct 31 Nov 2, 2019.
- **Chamorro, J.D.**, Kozal, L.C., & Hofmann, G.E. Exploring mechanisms of transgenerational plasticity (TGP) in California mussels (*Mytilus californianus*). Poster. LTER All Scientists' Meeting. Pacific Grove, CA. Oct 1-3, 2018.
- Chamorro, J.D. & LaFrachise, L. Effects of ocean acidification on sandcastle worm (*Phragmatopoma californica*) tube structure. Oral Presentation. UC Davis Bodega Marine Laboratory Undergraduate Research Symposium. Bodega Bay, CA. Aug 27, 2015.

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

- Fall 2023Academic Coordinator, Field-based Undergraduate Engagement through
Research, Teaching, and Education (FUERTE), UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA
- Summer 2022 Field Coordinator, FUERTE, UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA

Fall 2019	Field Team Member, NSF Grants for Rapid Response Research,
	Studies of recovery from bleaching in Acropora hyacinthus, Gump Station,
	Mo'orea, French Polynesia.
	PIs: Marie Strader & Gretchen Hofmann
2018-2019	Graduate Student Researcher , Santa Barbara Coastal Long-Term Ecological Research (SBC LTER), UCSB, CA PI: Dr. Dan Reed
2016-2017	Wildlife Biologist, Wildlife Learning Center, Sylmar, CA
2016	Aquarist Intern, Aquarium of the Pacific, Long Beach, CA
2014-2015	Undergraduate Researcher , Department of Environmental Toxicology, UC Davis PI: Professor Andrew Whitehead
2014	Intern, UC Davis Wood Duck Program, UC Davis

PI: Professor John Eadie

TEACHING EXPERIENCE

Fall 2022	Teaching Fellow , BIOL 200: Introductory Biology, California State University Channel Islands, Camarillo, CA
Summer 2022	Instructor on Record , INT 93LS: Introduction to Research in STEM, Humanities, and Social Sciences, UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA
Fall 2021	Teaching Assistant , EEMB 116: Invertebrate Zoology, UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA
Summer 2021	Teaching Assistant , INT 186ED: Transfer Edge Seminar, UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA
Winter 2020	Teaching Assistant , EEMB 165: Field Studies in Marine Ecological Physiology, UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA
Spring 2019	Teaching Assistant , EEMB 3L: Introductory Biology Lab 3, UCSB,

Spring 2019 Teaching Assistant, EENIB SL. Introductory Biology Lab 5, OCS Santa Barbara, CA

MENTORSHIP & LEADERSHIP

- 2020-present Graduate Student Mentor, FUERTE, UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA
- 2019-2022 Board Member, SACNAS, Graduate Chapter, Santa Barbara, CA
- 2018-2021 Graduate Student Mentor, STEM Student Guidance Hour, ONDAS Student Center, UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA
- 2021 Graduate Student Liaison, Making Adventures Possible for All Students (MAPAS), UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA
- 2020 Mentor, UCSB Graduate Scholars Program, Graduate Division, UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA

2019	Graduate Student Mentor, Mentorship presentation, "Navigating the
	Academic Sea: Achieving your Goals as a Transfer Student",
	College of the Canyons, Valencia, CA
2018	Graduate Student Mentor, Transfer Student Center, UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA
2017	Graduate Student Mentor, Women in Science and Engineering Mentor
	Program, UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA

Undergraduate Researchers Mentored:

Alicia Subgani (UCSB' 22) Project title: Examining the effects of thermal acclimatization on DNA methylation in *Mytilus californianus* gill tissue

Cristina Dobbelaere (UCSB' 20) Project Title: Interactive visualization of marine intertidal temperatures

Robert Hickman (Gorman Scholars Program, UCSB '20) Project Title: Effects of marine heatwaves on *Mytilus californianus* temperature and recruitment

OUTREACH & SCIENCE COMMUNICATION

2021	Shiny App – MARINe Robomussel Data (https://jdchamorro.shinyapps.io/intertidal-mussel-temperature/)
2020	"Understanding Coral Bleaching: Research and Lessons from Mo'orea", Short Stories about Long Term Research Blog.
2019	Science Communicator, Santa Barbara Earth Day Festival, SCB LTER, Santa Barbara, CA
2018	Science Communicator, World Oceans Day Festival, Santa Barbara Museum of Natural History Sea Center, Santa Barbara, CA
2018	Science Communicator, UC Leadership Excellence Through Advanced Degree lab tours, UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA
2017-2019	Volunteer, Family United Science Exploration Junior High School Education Program, Center for Science and Engineering Partnerships, UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA
2017	Science Communicator, Day Cruise Outreach for K-12 Teachers with NOAA of R/V Shearwater, NOAA Channel Islands National Marine Sanctuary, CA

CERTIFICATIONS & TRAININGS

- 2022 Wilderness First Aid Certified
- 2021 UC Fieldwork Toolkit Leadership Training, University of California, CA, March 3-24.

2019	Larval Biology of Marine Invertebrates, Friday Harbor Laboratories, University of Washington, Friday Harbor, WA, July 22 - August 23.
2018	AAUS Scientific Diver
2015	Experimental Invertebrate Biology & Coastal Marine Research,

5 Experimental Invertebrate Biology & Coastal Marine Research, Bodega Marine Laboratory, UC Davis, Bodega Bay, CA, June 22 - July 31.

ABSTRACT

Impacts of Natural Temperature Variation and Heatwaves on Coastal Marine Invertebrates

by

Jannine D. Chamorro

The rapid pace of global climate change is challenging marine species worldwide. Increases in average seawater temperatures, combined with extreme climatic events such as marine heatwaves (MHWs), are pushing organisms near or past their physiological tolerance limits. To predict how these stressors will impact species and ecosystems, knowledge of thermal limits and the capacity to adjust these limits via acclimation is critical. This is especially true for species living near their thermal limits or species that vary in sensitivity to thermal stress across their life history.

In my dissertation I examined how changes in ocean temperature are impacting two ecologically important species in coastal waters of the Northeast Pacific, the California mussel (*Mytilus californianus*) and the purple sea urchin (*Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*). For both study organisms, I began by examining how the thermal experience of adult animals was altered during MHW events using data collected by long-term monitoring programs. Here, I found that across the biogeographic range of *M. californianus*, mussels differed in thermal exposure during MHW events where Oregon and California populations differed in the onset of elevated temperatures and the proximity to optimal performance thresholds.

Regarding *S. purpuratus*, I found that MHWs coincide with reproductive life history events that may have implications for gametogenesis, spawning, and larval development.

For early life history events in my study organisms, I examined transgenerational and intragenerational plasticity as an acclimatory response mechanism to warming oceans. In a field-to-laboratory experiment using intertidal mussels, I investigated transgenerational plasticity in nature by examining how parental exposure to differing thermal regimes that exist across tidal height and season impact offspring phenotype. To further examine the influence of developmental temperature on larval performance, offspring were reared at two developmental temperatures. At the veliger stage, physiological performance of offspring was assessed via measurements of larval body size, respiration rate, and thermal tolerance. Results from this study show that seasonal acclimatization of adult *M. californianus* and larval developmental temperature had prevailing effects on offspring performance.

Lastly, to study whether MHWs might induce a transgenerational response in *S*. *purpuratus*, adult urchins were acclimated to MHW and non-MHW conditions in the laboratory during their period of gametogenesis. Following the adult acclimation, offspring from each parental treatment were reared in reciprocal conditions. To assess for transgenerational and intragenerational effects throughout ontogeny, thermal tolerance and body size of each offspring treatment was measured at critical developmental stages. Embryos from MHW-acclimated females were more thermally tolerant with higher LT₅₀ values compared to progeny from non-MHW-acclimated females. Additionally, there was an effect of female acclimation state on offspring body size at two stages of development - early gastrula and prism. To examine maternal provisioning as a means to also alter embryo

xii

performance, I examined egg size and biochemical composition. Here I found that eggs from MHW-acclimated female had higher total protein concentrations.

Overall results from my dissertation research highlighted natural temperature variation experienced by *M. californianus* and *S. purpuratus*, and how this thermal exposure was influenced during heatwave events. Further, using a combination of field and laboratory experiments I provided evidence for transgenerational and intragenerational acclimation to alter performance of early developmental stages.

I. Introduction 1
Statement of the problem
Organismal response to environmental warming
The objective
Study System #1: Mytilus californianus inhabiting the rocky intertidal shores along the
Pacific coast
Study System #2: Kelp forest herbivores, Strongylocentrotus purpuratus, in the Santa
Barbara Channel
Chapter II: Heatwave impacts on Mytilus californianus body temperature across
latitude
Chapter III: Field acclimatization of adults influences offspring performance in the
rocky intertidal mussel, Mytilus californianus
Chapter IV: Transgenerational plasticity as a mechanism of response to marine
heatwaves in the purple sea urchin, Strongylocentrotus purpuratus
II. Heatwave impacts on Mytilus californianus body temperature across latitude 11
Introduction11
Heatwave impacts on intertidal organisms11
Long-term monitoring
Summary of the study
Materials and Methods14
History of data collected14
Field sites
Robomussel design and instrument deployment16
Approach to data analysis17
Annual patterns across latitude17
Analysis of MHW impacts on temperature17
Analysis of AHW impacts on temperature

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Results	
Annual patterns across sites	
MHW impacts on mussel body temperature	
AHW impacts on mussel body temperature	
Discussion	
Summary of the study	
Annual patterns across latitude	
Impacts of MHWs on M. californianus body temperature	
Impacts of AHWs on M. californianus body temperature	
Conclusions	
Acknowledgements	
Figures & Tables	
intertidal mussel, <i>Mytilus californianus</i>	
TGP studies in the field and laboratory	
Summary of the study	
Materials and Methods	
Measurements of adult mussel temperature	
Mussel collection and spawning	
Larval culturing and sampling	
Egg and larval morphometrics	
Respirometry	
Thermal tolerance, LT50	
Statistical analysis	
Results	
Temperature data from the high and low collection sites	
veuger boay size	

Thermal tolerance, LT50	51
Egg size	51
Discussion	52
Adult temperature experience as a function of season and tide height	53
Transgenerational and intragenerational effects on veliger larvae	55
Maternal investment as a mechanism of TGP	59
Conclusions	59
Acknowledgements	60
Figures & Tables	62
V. Transgenerational plasticity as a mechanism of response to marine heat	twaves in the
urple sea urchin, Strongylocentrotus purpuratus	69
Introduction	69
Transgenerational plasticity as a potential acclimation mechanism	69
Timing of MHWs relative to early development of S. purpuratus	
Summary of the study	72
Materials and Methods	
Animal collection and adult conditioning	
Urchin spawning and larval culturing	
Sampling through development	
Thermal tolerance	76
Embryo and larval morphometric analysis	
Analysis of egg traits	
Statistical analysis	80
Results	81
Observations following acclimation of adult urchins	81
Thermal tolerance	82
Embryo morphometrics	83
Egg morphometrics and biochemistry	83
Discussion	

Transgenerational effects on offspring thermal tolerance	85
Transgenerational effects on embryo and larval body size	
Maternal provisioning as a general mechanism of TGP	88
Effects of developmental temperature on offspring phenotype	
Conclusions	
Acknowledgements	
Figures & Tables	
V. Conclusion	101
Future Directions	108
References	109

LIST OF FIGURES

II. Heatwave impacts on *Mytilus californianus* body temperature across latitude

- Figure 1. Map of rocky intertidal sites used in temperature analysis. From north to south,Fogarty Creek (FC), Boiler Bay (BB), Strawberry Hill (SH), Bodega Marine Reserve (BD), Lompoc Landing (LL), and Coal Oil Point (CP).
- Figure 2. Heat map displaying A) mean and B) maximum daily temperature for all sites.Temperature was collected using robomussels in the mid zone of the mussel bed.White regions are periods when temperature data was not collected.
- **Figure 3.** Monthly averaged A) mean and B) maximum daily temperature, for 2000-2023 when data was available.
- **Figure 4.** Cross-correlation matrix displaying the relationship between each site for monthly averaged A) mean and B) maximum daily temperature.
- Figure 5. Temperature recorded by robomussels prior and during MHW years for each intertidal site. The red and purple lines represent 2014 and 2015, respectively; the grey line represents the climatological mean (i.e., 2000-2013 when data is available). Shaded area represents ± standard deviation.
- Figure 6. Temperature recorded by *immersed* robomussels prior and during MHW years for each intertidal site. The red and purple lines represent 2014 and 2015, respectively; the grey line represents the climatological mean (i.e., 2000-2013 when data is available). Shaded area represents ± standard deviation.
- **Figure 7.** Temperature recorded by *emersed* robomussels prior and during MHW years for each intertidal site. The red and purple lines represent 2014 and 2015, respectively;

the grey line represents the climatological mean (i.e., 2000-2013 when data is available). Shaded area represents \pm standard deviation.

Figure 8. Temperature recorded at A) FC and B) BB, from June 2021- September 2021. The is Pacific Heat Dome highlighted in red.

III. Field acclimatization of adults influences offspring performance in the rocky intertidal mussel, *Mytilus californianus*

- **Figure 1.** Experimental Design. 1) Adult mussels were collected from the high and low zone following the summer and winter season (*N*=160 total). 2) Mussels were spawned and eggs from five females from each adult acclimatization treatment (i.e., season-zone) were pooled and fertilized with sperm from a single low zone male. 3) Fertilized embryos were reared in warm (W: 20°C) and cool (C: 16°C) temperature treatments until larvae reached the D-shaped veliger stage. Each treatment was raised in triplicate culturing containers.
- Figure 2. Temperature profiles recorded by robomussels over the course of the field acclimatization, April 1, 2021 – March 30, 2022. A) Monthly averaged mean daily temperature. B) Monthly averaged maximum daily temperature. C) Monthly averaged range in daily temperature. Shaded regions represent ± one standard deviation.
- **Figure 3.** Cumulative exposure to heat stress in hours, record by robomussels for high and low mussels during the summer winter season. Moderate heat stress defined as temperature exposure between 23-30°C. Severe heat stress was defined as exposure above 30°C.

- Figure 4. The effect of zone and developmental temperature on D-stage veliger body size.
 Body size measured as A) hinge length (mm) and B) 2D area (mm²) for all treatments. Datapoints represent mean values with error bars representing standard error. Panels are separated by season. Developmental temperature is shown by color, W-red and C-blue. High (H) or low (L) parentage is shown on the x-axis.
- **Figure 5.** The effect of zone and developmental temperature on larval respiration rate (pmol $O_2 h^{-1}$ individual⁻¹). Datapoints represent mean values with error bars representing standard error. Panels are separated by season. Developmental temperature is shown by color, W-red and C-blue. High (H) or low (L) parentage is shown on the x-axis.
- **Figure 6.** LT₅₀ values calculated for veliger larvae following exposure to a 1 hr acute heat shock. Error bars represent standard error. Panels are separated by season. High (H) or low (L) parentage and developmental temperature treatment (W or C) is shown on the x-axis.
- Figure 7. Size distribution of eggs spawned by females from each adult acclimatization treatment (i.e., season-zone). Egg size was measured as A) average diameter (mm) and B) 2D area (mm²).

IV. Transgenerational plasticity as a mechanism of response to marine heatwaves in the purple sea urchin, *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*

Figure 1. Mean daily temperature experienced by adult purple sea urchins during the 2014-2015 MHW. Temperature data were collected on the benthos using ONSET HOBO temperature loggers by the Santa Barbara Coastal LTER. The red and purple lines represent 2014 and 2015, respectively; the grey line represents the climatological mean (2001-2021). The occurrence of a MHW event, identified using metrics established by Hobday et al. (2018), is indicated by a dashed line for both 2014 (red) and 2015 (purple). Timing of life history events for S. purpuratus are represented by colored bars: gametogenesis (blue), spawning (green), and planktonic larval duration (yellow) (Rogers-Bennett, 2013; Okamoto et al., 2020).

- Figure 2. Experimental design. Adult *S. purpuratus* (*N*=60) were acclimated in either a MHW (W: 18°C) or a non-MHW (C: 13°C) condition, for a four-month period, during gametogenesis. Eggs from each maternal treatment were pooled (*N*=5 females per treatment) and fertilized using sperm from a single non-MHW- acclimated male. Embryos from each cross were reared at either a MHW or non-MHW temperature, resulting in four groups: WW, WC, CW, and CC. Each group was raised in three replicate culture vessels.
- **Figure 3.** Survivorship in *S. purpuratus* adults over 4 months of acclimation at marine heatwave (18°C) and non-marine heatwave (13°C) temperatures. Adult urchins were acclimated to either a MHW temperature of 18°C or non-MHW temperature of 13°C for a four-month period from October to January. The red and blue lines represent survival probability for MHW or non-MHW condition, respectively.
- **Figure 4.** Survivorship of early-stage *S. purpuratus* from the four treatments. Hatched blastula from each of the four treatments were exposed to a 1hr acute temperature trial and then allowed to recover at 14°C. Following recovery and development to prism the proportion of live prism larvae were scored. Colored lines represent a logistic regression for each treatment. LT₅₀ is shown at the intersection of the dashed

xxi

grey line with the color- coded line for each group with different parentage and different developmental temperature.

- Figure 5. Morphometric analysis of embryo and prism stage S. purpuratus. Body size of embryos and larvae at three developmental stages: hatched blastula (HB), early gastrula (EG), and prism (PR), for each family combination (WW, WC, CW, & CC). Only results with significant p-values are displayed on each graph.
- Figure 6. Egg morphometrics and assessment of biochemical storage biomolecules. A) Diameter and B) 2D area of eggs from females acclimated to MHW (W) and non-MHW (C) conditions. C) Total protein (ng/egg) and D) total lipid content (ng/egg) of eggs from females acclimated to MHW (W) and non-MHW (C) conditions. Only results with significant *p*-values are displayed on each graph.

LIST OF TABLES

II. Heatwave impacts on *Mytilus californianus* body temperature across latitude

- Table 1. Average tide height (reported as height above mean lower low water [MLLW]) for mid zone robomussel deployments. Original robomussels are those deployed prior to 2015, new robomussels are those deployed in 2019 or later.
- Table 2. Average ± standard deviation increase in temperature recorded during MHW years
 (i.e., 2014 and 2015) compared to climatological mean for each site.

III. Field acclimatization of adults influences offspring performance in the rocky

intertidal mussel, Mytilus californianus

- Table 1. Mean (± standard deviation) temperature and the range in temperature recorded in the high (H) and low (L) zone following the summer and winter season. Each season is defined as the three months prior to adult collection.
- Table 2. Mean (± standard deviation) body size, measured as hinge length (mm) and area

 (mm²) for veliger larvae from each treatment (i.e., season-zone-developmental

 temperature).
- **Table 3.** Calculated LT₅₀ values for veliger larvae following and acute thermal tolerance trial from each treatment.
- **Table 4.** Results from generalized linear mixed effect model on veliger thermal tolerance.Bold values indicate factors and interactions which have a significant effect.

IV. Transgenerational plasticity as a mechanism of response to marine heatwaves in the purple sea urchin, *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*

- **Table 1.** A Wald chi-squared test was used to determine the significance of each factor:

 temperature of acute exposure, maternal acclimation temperature, and offspring

 developmental temperature; and their interaction on survivorship.
- **Table 2.** Table III Analysis of Variance Table with Satterthwaite's methods for the linear

 mixed effect models showing the effect of maternal acclimation and offspring

 developmental temperature on body size (i.e., area and skeletal rod length) on early

 developmental stages of *S. purpuratus*.

I. Introduction

Statement of the problem

Living organisms have adapted to operate within a thermal range shaped by the temperature conditions experienced over evolutionary time. Organismal performance declines when temperatures exceed thermal limits and if behavioral or physiological adjustments are not made, this could lead to mortality (Sinclair et al., 2016). Warming associated with anthropogenic global climate change is more frequently pushing species closer or past their upper thermal limits, leading to population level changes that can subsequently impact ecosystems and the humans that depend on them (Smale et al., 2019; Smith et al., 2023).

In marine systems, a multi-decadal trend of warming ocean temperature has been documented due to the increased uptake of heat by the ocean trapped in the atmosphere by greenhouse gases (IPCC, 2014). In addition to this gradual increase, episodic warm water anomalies, known as marine heatwaves (MHWs) have increased in frequency and intensity (Perkins et al., 2012; Oliver et al., 2018). MHWs, widely defined as periods of time where the seawater temperature is above the 90th percentile for a period of five days or longer (Hobday et al., 2016), have recently gained the attention of the marine science community due to the far-reaching impacts on marine ecosystems. Around the globe MHW events have had organism level effects such as changes in growth (Short et al., 2015) and reproduction (Wild et al., 2019; Piatt et al., 2020) as well as ecosystem level effects such as mass mortality events (Cavole et al., 2016; Hughes et al., 2017; Wernberg, 2021), range expansions (Sanford et al., 2019), and species invasions (Verdura et al., 2019).

One of the longest and largest documented MHWs, known as 'the Blob', occurred along the northeastern Pacific from January 2014 – August 2016 (Gentemann et al., 2017). During this time sea surface temperature (SST) increased an average of 1-4°C (Cavole et al., 2016). Subtidal and intertidal algal species were some of them most drastically impacted species. Lethal effects on these foundation species, associated with increased temperature and decreased nutrient availability, led to restructuring of benthic invertebrate communities along the Northeastern Pacific coast (Michaud et al., 2022; Whalen et al., 2023). Numerous fisheries were also impacted during this time (Free et al., 2023). The loss of kelp as a food source eventually led to the collapse of the red sea urchin (Mesocentrotus franciscanus) and red abalone (Haliotis rufescens) fishery (Rogers-Bennett, 2013; Free et al., 2023). Pacific cod also showed a steep decline in biomass following the heatwave. Recent studies predicted that increased metabolic demands and decreased prey availability (Piatt et al., 2020), in addition to reduced egg survival and recruitment may have contributed to this decline (Laurel and Rogers, 2020). However, not all impacts were negative. For example, the MHW promoted the range expansion of the California market squid (*Doryteuthis opalescens*). Before, the fishery existed predominantly in California, however due to the northward expansion up to the Gulf of Alaska there has been growing development of the squid fishery in Oregon and Alaska (Free et al., 2023). Differences in population level response indicates that some species may be better adapted to coping with these thermal events, thus knowledge on thermal limits of species or mechanisms that increase tolerance will allow us to predict which species will be "winners" or "losers" in a warming world (Somero, 2010).

For intertidal organisms living at the intersection of the marine and terrestrial realm, the increased occurrence of aerial heatwaves (AHWs) is yet another stressor associated with

global climate change. The prolonged periods of excessive heat have documented lethal impacts on plants, animals, and humans alike (White et al., 2023). Sessile marine species habiting the intertidal region are some of the species most vulnerable to heatwaves, as many are currently living near their thermal limit and have limited ability to cope behaviorally or physiologically (Somero, 2002). Together the increased occurrence of marine and aerial heatwaves present new challenges for marine species. As long-term averages in SST and these extreme climatic events are expected to increase in frequency, intensity, and duration, it is crucial that we advance our understanding of organismal capacity to tolerate rapidly warming environments (Oliver et al., 2018; Perkins-Kirkpatrick and Lewis, 2020).

Organismal response to environmental warming

In the face of rapid environmental change, species have few options to avoid extinction: disperse to a more hospitable habitat, adapt through genetic change, or acclimate via phenotypic plasticity (Hofmann and Todgham, 2010). These processes are not mutually exclusive, and it is likely that species will employ them all in tandem (Donelson et al., 2019). However, with the rapid rate of ocean warming, acclimation via phenotypic plasticity is likely the first line of defense (Somero, 2010). Mechanistically, organisms can induce an acclimatory response through processes such as intragenerational plasticity (IGP) and transgenerational plasticity (TGP). Plasticity within a generation, IGP, refers to changes in phenotype induced by signals occurring within an organism's lifetime. Environmental drivers can alter tolerance and performance of individuals through biochemical, molecular, or physiological processes (Hofmann and Todgham, 2010). For example, in response to MHW stress, organisms can upregulate production of molecular chaperones critical to protein

homeostasis, heat shock proteins, as seen in the pearl oyster (*Pinctada maximal*) and the short-spined urchin (*Heliocidaris erythrogramma*) (Harianto et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2022).

Developmental plasticity, which refers to modifications to phenotype induced by environmental signals experienced during early ontogeny is another form of IGP. Regarding warming environmental conditions, numerous studies have examined the effects of developmental temperature on thermal tolerance (Pottier et al., 2022). A meta-analysis by Pottier and colleagues found a modest increase in thermal tolerance is associated with increased developmental temperature (Pottier et al., 2022). Thus, exploring developmental plasticity as an acclimatory mechanism to ocean warming warrants further research.

Transgenerational plasticity, on the other hand, refers to modification of offspring phenotype induced by signals experienced by the parents. Through mechanisms of TGP such as nutritional provisioning, transmission of hormones and proteins, and epigenetic inheritance, parental generations can prime offspring with better suited phenotypes to deal with environmental conditions (Munday, 2014). Given that numerous marine species are broadcast spawners, including marine invertebrates, maternal provisioning of eggs represents the entire parental investment (McEdward and Miner, 2006). These initial investments are critical for early development, and thus changes attributed to environmental temperature experienced by adults during gametogenesis may later lead to population level effects. Overall, it is likely that organisms will employ a combination of all these mechanisms to cope with novel thermal conditions. Importantly, all these non-genetic mechanisms work at shorter timescales than evolutionary processes, thus can buffer populations allowing genetic adaptation to 'catch up' (Donelson et al., 2016).

The objective

The core objective of my thesis was to 1) investigate how heatwaves alter thermal regimes experienced by ecologically important intertidal and subtidal invertebrate species, and 2) examine transgenerational and intragenerational plasticity as an acclimatory response mechanism to warming oceans. My investigation covers two systems 1) intertidal mussels, *Mytilus californianus*, inhabiting the rocky intertidal shores along the Pacific coast of the United States and 2) purple sea urchins, *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*, kelp forest herbivores in the Santa Barbara Channel.

Study System #1: Mytilus californianus inhabiting the rocky intertidal shores along the Pacific coast

Along the Northeastern Pacific coast, California mussels (*M. californianus*) are a dominate foundation species found along rocky intertidal shores that form large aggregations (aka mussel beds) in the mid intertidal zone. Across vertical height in intertidal zone, and subsequently mussel beds, thermal gradients exist due to the tide cycle, where organisms at the upper and lower edge of the rocky intertidal zone can vary greatly in their thermal exposure due to differences in immersion and emersion time (Helmuth et al., 2016). Because the timing of low tides changes throughout the year, thermal exposure of intertidal organisms is additionally influenced by seasonal changes in aerial and seawater temperature. Differences in timing of low tides and shoreline characteristics across latitude further contribute to the thermal variability experienced by mussels, leading to a mosaic of temperature regimes along their biogeographic range (Helmuth et al., 2006).

The rocky intertidal zone is often considered to be one of the most thermally challenging places to inhabit. Here, *M. californianus* act as ecosystem engineers altering rocky habitat. Three-dimensional mussel beds alleviate these thermally stressful conditions by increasing the retention of moisture during low tide, thus decreasing temperature relative to bare rock (Jurgens and Gaylord, 2016). In doing so, mussel beds provide habitat for newly settled and adult organisms, greatly increasing biodiversity of the rocky intertidal zone (Seed and Suchanek, 1992). Thus, abiotic and/or biotic factors that contribute to changes in *M. californianus* abundance can alter community composition of the rocky intertidal zone.

Apart from their ecological importance, mussel beds are natural laboratories for studying thermal biology (Tomanek and Helmuth, 2002). Natural differences in thermal exposure at varying proximities have allowed researchers to gain insight into physiological and molecular mechanisms organisms employ to generate an acclimatory response (Place et al., 2012; Moyen et al., 2020). While most studies on acclimation mechanisms of *M. californianus* have focused on the post-settlement or adult stages (Gleason et al., 2018; Moyen et al., 2019), differences in thermal acclimatization of adults across tidal height and season make them ideal candidates for studying transgenerational acclimation mechanisms.

As with most marine invertebrates, *M. californianus*, have a complex life history. Adult mussels inhabit the benthos of the rocky intertidal zone, while embryos and larvae develop in the water column following synchronous broadcast spawning events (Strathmann, 1987; Gosselin, 2004). Since early developmental stages are often the most sensitive to environmental stress (Pandori and Sorte, 2018), examining the impact of ocean warming on these stages can provide critical insight into future population response. This is critical as

numerous studies have shown latent effects of MHWs that appear years after the onset of the event (Free et al., 2023).

Study System #2: Kelp forest herbivores, Strongylocentrotus purpuratus, in the Santa Barbara Channel

A dominant herbivorous grazer, purple urchins (*S. purpuratus*) can have dramatic effects on kelp forest ecosystems, with the ability to transform kelp canopies into urchin barrens when population densities are high (Pearse, 2006). While urchins have long been studied with regard to their vulnerability to ocean acidification (Yu et al., 2011), less is known about how they will be affected by increased temperature. Furthermore, the purple urchin has long been used as a model organism in developmental biology. Its well documented development allows for an in-depth investigation on the effect of temperature during ontogeny. Lastly, from an ecological development perspective (Sultan, 2007), a large portion of the purple urchin's reproductive cycle take place when MHWs occur in the SBC. MHWs have tended to occur in the late summer to early winter, a time period that coincides with the period of gametogenesis in purple sea urchins (Cochran and Engelmann, 1975; Strathmann, 1987).

Using a combination of approaches from timeseries analysis of long-term data to field and laboratory experiments, my thesis investigated how warming associated with natural variation in temperature and episodic thermal anomalies impact coastal benthic marine invertebrates, *M. californianus* and *S. purpuratus*. This body of work has been organized in to three chapters:

Chapter II: Heatwave impacts on Mytilus californianus body temperature across latitude

For this chapter I conducted a time series analysis investigating the effects of natural temperature variability and heatwaves on *M. californianus* body temperature. Temperature data was collected with biomimetic temperature loggers, robomussels, at six sites in Oregon and California. I found that monthly averaged mussel body temperatures in Oregon and California showed distinctly different patterns. In terms of MHWs, I observed that temperature differences were influenced by site and mussel immersion/emersion during the 2014-2016 Northeastern Pacific MHW. Increased body temperature was associated with immersion rather than emersion. Moreover, temperature increases were higher and occurred earlier in California than Oregon. Lastly, I examined the impact of the Pacific Heat Dome, on the most Northern sites in Oregon and found that recorded temperatures were within the naturally occurring range. Results from this study provide key information relating to *M. californianus* with regard to natural temperature variability and during heatwave events, which can help to explain ecosystem level impacts of heatwaves observed in the rocky intertidal zone.

Chapter III: Field acclimatization of adults influences offspring performance in the rocky intertidal mussel, Mytilus californianus

In this field-to-laboratory experiment, I investigated transgenerational plasticity in nature by examining how parental exposure to differing thermal regimes that exist across tidal height and season impact offspring phenotype. Here, *M. californianus*, were collected from mussel beds in the high and low zone of the rocky intertidal following the summer and winter season. Adults were spawned in the laboratory and sets of offspring were then reared

at cool (16°C) and warm (20°C) temperatures to further examine the influence of developmental temperature on larval performance. At the veliger stage, physiological performance of offspring was assessed. Results from this study show that seasonal acclimatization and larval developmental temperature had prevailing effects on offspring performance. Larvae from high and low mussels collected after winter were generally larger, had higher thermal tolerance, and lower respiration rates than those collected after summer when reared at the same temperature. In terms of developmental temperature, larvae reared in the warm treatment we larger, had higher metabolic rates, and lower thermal tolerance when compared to those reared in the cool treatment. These results support the idea that parental acclimatization can impact offspring performance, however, differences in adult thermal exposure at the microhabitat scale may not be the main driver. While laboratory studies have increased our understanding of these transgenerational acclimation processes, field studies such as this provide insight into how these processes function in natural populations.

Chapter IV: Transgenerational plasticity as a mechanism of response to marine heatwaves in the purple sea urchin, Strongylocentrotus purpuratus

To study the effect of thermal stress from MHWs during gametogenesis in *S*. *purpuratus* and further, whether MHWs might induce transgenerational plasticity (TGP) in thermal tolerance of progeny, adult urchins were acclimated to two conditions in the laboratory – a MHW temperature of 18°C and a non-MHW temperature of 13°C. Following a four-month long acclimation period (October–January), adults were spawned and offspring from each parental condition were reared at MHW (18°C) and non-MHW temperatures (13°C), creating a total of four embryo treatment groups. To assess transgenerational effects for each of the four groups, I measured thermal tolerance of hatched blastula embryos in acute thermal tolerance trials. Embryos from MHW-acclimated females were more thermally tolerant with higher LT₅₀ values compared to progeny from non- MHW-acclimated females. Additionally, there was an effect of female acclimation state on offspring body size at two stages of development - early gastrula and prism. To assess maternal provisioning as means to also alter embryo performance, I examined gamete traits from the differentially acclimated females, by measuring size and biochemical composition of eggs. MHW-acclimated females had eggs with higher protein concentrations, while egg size and lipid content showed no differences. These results indicate that TGP plays a role in altering the performance of progeny as a function of the thermal history of the female, especially when thermal stress coincides with gametogenesis.

II. Heatwave impacts on *Mytilus californianus* body temperature across latitude

Introduction

Heatwave impacts on intertidal organisms

Organisms inhabiting the rocky intertidal zone live at the intersection of terrestrial and marine environments and thus are exposed to complex thermal regimes. Here, thermal environments are highly variable, influenced by the tidal cycle, seasonal fluctuations in air and seawater temperature, and solar radiation. In addition to these temporal variables, spatial characteristics such as latitude and shoreline profiles can further increase variability (Helmuth et al., 2006). While intertidal organisms have adapted to withstand these thermally stressful conditions, many are currently living near their thermal limits (Somero, 2002). Thus, increases in temperature associated with heatwaves are of great concern for intertidal ecosystems. The overarching goal of this thesis chapter is to examine how thermal anomalies associated with marine and aerial heatwaves (hereafter referred to as MHWs and AHWs) are influencing the thermal experience of a foundation species in the rocky intertidal zone of the Pacific coast, *Mytilus californianus*.

dIn early studies of MHWs many focused on examining the impacts of these anomalously high seawater temperatures on subtidal and pelagic ecosystems (Smith et al., 2023). In recent years, however, studies investigating the effects of MHWs on intertidal ecosystems have emerged. These studies have predominantly focused on algal foundation species, as changes in their abundance can alter community structure. For example, in a study examining the effects of the 2014-2016 MHW on algae species along the Oregon coast, researchers found a decline in performance related to elevated temperatures (Spiecker and Menge, 2022). Similarly, in a study conducted as part of the Gulf Watch Alaska Long-Term
Monitoring program, researchers found a shift in community structure following the same heatwave. Where the intertidal ecosystem shifted from autotrophic macroalgae dominated system to a heterotrophic filter-feeder dominated system (Weitzman et al., 2021).

In addition to MHWs, AHWs can have similar if not greater impacts on intertidal species. Since intertidal organisms are exposed to aerial temperatures during emersion, AHWs where temperatures surpass thermal maxima of species have led to mass mortality events (Harley, 2008; Seuront et al., 2019). These mass mortality events have been documented when heatwaves coincided with midday low tides, often occurring at higher latitude sites along the Pacific coast (Helmuth et al., 2002). However mass motility events have been documented at lower latitudes as well (Harley, 2008). More recently, the unprecedented Pacific Northwest aerial heatwave, known as the Pacific Heat Dome, which occurred from June 25 to July 2, 2021, from British Colombia to Oregon had devastating impacts on rocky intertidal ecosystems of the Salish Sea. Here, temperatures surpassed 50°C, which is above the physiological tolerance limit of species, such as mussels, barnacles, oysters, inhabiting the area (Hesketh and Harley, 2023; White et al., 2023).

Long-term monitoring

As heatwaves are predicted to increase in intensity, frequency, and duration, (Oliver et al., 2019) understanding their impacts on critical species will be important to determining ecosystem response. To determine if periods of elevated temperature are in fact thermal anomalies for ecosystems, long-term data is required to make meaningful comparisons of temperature across time. Along the west coast of the United States (US), specifically, a collaborative effort between the Partnership for Interdisciplinary Studies in Coastal Ocean

Studies (PISCO), the Multi-Agency Rocky Intertidal Network (MARINe) and the Helmuth Lab at Northeastern University, has monitored important physical and biological parameters in the intertidal zone over the past two decades, and continues to this day. This substantial repository of long-term data allows us to not only determine how averages are changing over time but see the impacts of extreme climatic events.

Due to its role as a foundation species, scientists have long been interested in assessing temperature dynamics experienced by the California mussel, *Mytilus californianus*. Early studies employed traditional temperature loggers to record thermal regimes experienced by mussels, however these devices often did not match the body temperatures of live mussels. Thus, biomimetic temperature loggers, robomussels, were designed (Fitzhenry et al., 2004). These robomussels have been critical in aiding in our understanding of how climate patterns influence mussel body temperature and how these patterns change over time and space (Helmuth et al., 2002; Helmuth et al., 2006; Helmuth et al., 2016). Further these measurements allow us to make better predictions on the physiological performance of mussels in their natural environment (Seuront et al., 2019).

Summary of the study

Early studies conducted by Helmuth and colleagues examined temperature profiles experienced by *M. californianus* along their biogeographic rage (Helmuth et al., 2002; Helmuth et al., 2006; Helmuth et al., 2016). In this thesis chapter I revisit this now expanded dataset for sites along the US west coast (i.e., Oregon and California) and measure the impacts of heatwaves on body temperatures of *M. californianus*. The specific goals of this chapter were to 1) compare temperature profiles of mussel body temperature across ten

degrees of latitude from northern Oregon to southern California, 2) determine the impact of MHWs on mussel body temperature, and 3) examine the impacts of an AHW, the Pacific Heat Dome, on mussel temperature.

As a brief summary of the results, I observed temperature differences influenced by site location and immersion/emersion conditions in relation to the occurrence of a MHW. Specifically, I found that monthly averaged mussel body temperatures across different sites showed distinct patterns. In terms of MHW effects, unsurprisingly, mussel body temperature was higher during MHW years. Increases in body temperature were related to increased temperature during immersion rather than emersion (i.e., exposure to seawater rather than air temperature). Temperature increases were higher for California sites than Oregon sites, and the onset of these elevated temperatures occurred earlier in California than in Oregon. Lastly, I examined the impact of the Pacific Heat Dome on the most northern sites in Oregon and found that recorded temperatures were within the naturally occurring range. Overall, these results provide meaningful insight into the thermal experience of a critical species in the rocky intertidal ecosystem. While prior studies have focused on heatwave impacts at the community level, it is rare that we are able to examine how these thermal events impact organism level factors such as body temperature. In all, these findings can help to explain ecosystem level impacts of heatwaves observed in the rocky intertidal zone.

Materials and Methods

History of data collected

Temperature data analyzed in this chapter was collected through a collaborative effort between, me (Hofmann Lab), the Helmuth lab, and MARINe. Data prior to 2015 was

collected by the Helmuth Lab at Northeastern University. Following 2015, numerous sites were decommissioned, leading to a gap in the dataset until loggers were redeployed in 2021 (some sites in California were maintained between this period). In 2021 due to the production of a new robomussel design, and a collaboration between myself and MARINe, robomussels were redeployed at Oregon sites. When loggers were redeployed at each site, special attention was taken to place loggers in the same locations as the original, however exact replacements were not often feasible (see Table 1). Thus, to not confound differences in temperature that may be related to different placements in the mussel bed, when examining heatwave impacts on mussel body temperature, I analyzed data collected prior to 2015 separate from data collected after when making temporal comparisons.

Field sites

To assess temperature dynamics experienced by mussels the along west coast of the United States, temperature data was collected and analyzed from six sites in Oregon and California which included: Fogarty Creek (FC), Boiler Bay (BB), Strawberry Hill (SH), Bodega Marine Reserve (BD), Lompoc Landing (LL), and Coal Oil Point (CP) (Figure 1). These sites were selected not only for their coverage *M. californianus* ' biogeographic range, but because many are historically important for experimental intertidal biology. Temperature data collection began in 2000 for most sites excluding FC which had intermittent sampling from 2006-2023.

Robomussel design and instrument deployment

Temperature data was collected from two equally functional designs of the biomimetic logger: (1) the original robomussel design, and (2) an updated robomussel design which was produced in 2019. The original design made by the Helmuth lab, contained a TidbiT logger (TB132-20+50 and UTBI-011; Onset Computer Corporation, Pocasset, MA) or a HOBO TidbiT v2 Water Temperature Water Temperature Data Logger (UTBI-001; Onset Computer Corporation, Pocasset, MA) encased polyester resin (Evercoat Premium Marine Resin, Illinois Tool Works, Inc.). The updated robomussel design, contained a T7.3 EnvLogger in acrylic resin and is produced by the biotechnology company Electric Blue (Portugal). The updated version facilitated collection of data since loggers could now be downloaded in the field with Near Field Communication technology. Whereas with the original design, loggers needed to be collected and downloaded in the laboratory. From 2000-2019 the original design was employed, following 2019 all original robomussels were replaced with the updated version.

Robomussels were be deployed as described in Helmuth et al. (2016) with minor modifications. Each site was equipped with approximately 6 loggers. Two loggers were adhered to the rocky substrate in the high, mid, and low zone of the mussel bed. Placement at the different locations would account for differences in temperature based on tidal height. Special care was taken to ensure that loggers were surrounded by mussels, since solitary loggers have shown to have anomalously high temperature readings. All loggers were adhered to rock substrate using Z-SPAR Splash Zone Epoxy.

Approach to data analysis

It is important to note that some sites vary in completeness of long-term data (i.e., some have larger gaps than others), therefore special consideration was taken to make sure temperature comparisons between sites and through time were made accurately. With this in mind, analyses in this thesis chapter focused on temperature collected in the mid zone of the mussel bed, as this dataset was the most complete and is the most representative of temperature experienced by mussels across the entire mussel bed. Placement of mid zone loggers ranged from 0.65 - 2.75 above mean lower low water (MLLW) level (Table 1).

Annual patterns across latitude

General observations of temperature data were made across sites, which included mean and maximum daily temperature. To further compare temperature profiles across sites, annual cycles were determined by calculating monthly averaged mean and maximum daily temperatures for the entire time series (i.e., 2000-2023 when data was available). Each daily average included 5-17 years of data. To measure similarity or dissimilarity across sites, a cross-correlation analysis on monthly averaged mean and maximum daily temperature was conducted.

Analysis of MHW impacts on temperature

To determine the influence of MHWs on mussel body temperature, average daily temperature recorded during MHW years (i.e., 2014 and 2015 when data was available) was compared to the climatological mean of data (i.e., averaged daily temperature from 2000-2013). To reduce excess variation in the data, daily temperature data was smoothed using a

moving average window of 7. To examine how mean daily temperatures during MHW years compared to highest recorded daily averages prior to the MHW, days with a mean temperature in the 90th percentile were counted for each site and the percentage of these days occurring in 2014 and/or 2015 was calculated. Since data is only available for 2014 and 2015, for the remainder of this chapter I will refer to the heatwave as the 2014-2015 MHW when discussing results, even though the MHW extended into 2016.

Since mussel body temperature is influenced by seawater and air temperature, which can lead to differences in physiological responses, I sought to investigate if any observed differences during MHW years were due to changes in seawater or air temperature. Body temperature during immersion (i.e., seawater temperature) and emersion (i.e., air temperature), was separated using tide height measurements of robomussels and comparing those to predictions of tidal height collected at stations closest to each site (http://tbone.biol.sc.edu/tide/). Specifically, robomussels were determined to be immersed if predicted tide height exceeded the measured tide height for the highest deployed logger. Robomussels were determined to be emersed if predicted tide height was below the measured tide height for the lowest deployed logger.

Analysis of AHW impacts on temperature

In addition to examining the influence of a MHW, the impacts of Pacific Heat Dome (i.e., an AHW) on mussel body temperature was assessed. Here, temperature recorded during the eight-day heatwave (June 25 - July 2, 2021) was compared to the thermal maxima documented for mussels at each site. Since this heatwave occurred during the later deployment of robomussels, temperature comparisons were made for data collected only

after April 2021. Only FC and BB were investigated since, these sites were in closest proximity to the area affected by the heatwave.

Results

Annual patterns across sites

Distinct differences in annual temperature patterns were observed across latitude (Figure 2). General observations showed an inverse relationship between mean daily temperature and latitude, a pattern that was not as evident for measurements of maximum daily temperature. To further compare temperature profiles across sites, annual cycles were determined by calculating monthly averaged mean and maximum daily temperatures. (Figure 3). Annual patterns of monthly averaged mean daily temperatures showed clear difference between Oregon (i.e., FC, BB, SH) and California sites (i.e., BD, LL, CP), where mussels from California experienced higher mean daily temperature than mussels from Oregon. In addition, there was a difference in the time of year that the peak temperatures were detected by the robomussels. For Oregon sites peak temperatures occurred between May and July, whereas for California sites peak temperatures occurred between July and October (Figure 3a).

In a comparison of monthly averaged mean daily temperature with monthly averaged maximum daily temperature, annual temperature patterns differed in their grouping. Annual patterns for BD were more similar to the Oregon sites than those recorded at LL or CP. For Oregon sites maximum daily temperatures where highest during June and July, whereas for LL and CP sites April and May were the months with the highest daily temperatures. A cross correlation analysis revealed that sites exhibited high correlations with regard to state,

supporting general observations (Figure 4). Specifically, the three Oregon sites were highly correlated with one another regarding monthly average mean daily temperature. Similar patterns were observed for the three California sites. However, for monthly averaged maximum daily temperature, BD exhibited a higher correlation with Oregon sites than California sites.

MHW impacts on mussel body temperature

For each site, mean daily temperature during MHW years (i.e., 2014 and 2015) was compared to the climatological mean (2000-2013). Here, average daily temperature experienced by mussels was generally higher during MHW years than the climatological mean (Figure 5; Table 2). Across sites this increase in temperature ranged from 0.88 -2.36°C. In a comparison of across latitude, California sites (i.e., BD, LL, and CP) experienced a greater increase in temperature than Oregon sites (i.e., FC, BB, SH) in 2014. Due to the lack of data for 2015, cross site comparisons were not conducted for BB, SH, and BD. A seasonal pattern was detected in the time series of robomussel temperature data. Elevated temperature was documented earlier for California sites, beginning in July whereas Oregon sites showed an increase in temperature in September (Figure 5). For all available data prior to 2016, days with a mean temperature in the 90th percentile were counted for each site. For BB, 16% of the counted days occurred in 2014. For SH, 11% of the counted days occurred in 2014. For BD, 23% of the counted days occurred in 2014. For LL, 23% and 20% of the counted days occurred in 2014 and 2015, respectively. For CP, 21% and 26% of the counted days occurred in 2014 and 2015, respectively.

The 2014-2015 MHW influenced mussel body temperature during immersion and emersion, however immersed robomussels showed greater variation from the climatological mean. Immersion temperature was isolated and mean daily temperature during 2014 and 2015 was calculated and compared to the climatological mean. Temperature patterns were similar to those observed in the combined dataset (i.e., immersion and emersion together), however average daily temperature was approximately 1-2 standard deviations above the climatological mean from July to December depending on the site (Figure 6). Contrastingly, emersion temperature fell mostly within one standard deviation of the mean or was slightly higher from July to December (Figure 7).

AHW impacts on mussel body temperature

Temperatures recorded during the Pacific Heat Dome were within the naturally occurring range for Oregon sites. Maximum daily temperature ranged from 19.4 - 28.0°C at FC and 17.7 - 35.9°C at BB during the AHW (Figure 8). These temperature values fell within the normal range recorded at FC and BB which are 8.9 - 37.3°C and 8.9 - 37.8°C, respectively.

Discussion

Summary of the study

In this thesis chapter I examined spatiotemporal patterns of *M. californianus* body temperature using long-term data collected with biomimetic loggers called robomussels, devices that have been used extensively in intertidal marine ecology (Helmuth et al., 2006; Seuront et al., 2019). Recent studies have reported changes in intertidal community composition following marine and aerial heatwaves along the Northeastern Pacific coast, changes that have been attributed in part to altered abundance of *M. californianus* itself (Weitzman et al., 2021). Using temperature data collected by robomussels, we can ascertain how thermal exposure of mussels was influenced by these heatwave events. This information can provide critical insight into mussel physiological performance during these thermal anomalies, supplementing studies examining ecosystem response. Thus, the overarching goals of this thesis chapter were to 1) examine annual temperature patterns of mussel body temperature across latitude, 2) investigate the impact of MHWs on mussel body temperature, and 3) determine the extent to which a recent AHW in the Pacific Northwest was captured by robomussels deployed on the Oregon coast.

Annual patterns across latitude

Results from the present analysis of annual patterns were similar to those previously documented in the literature (Helmuth et al., 2006). Here, I found an inverse relationship between mean daily temperature and latitude, a pattern that was not as evident for measurements of maximum daily temperature (Figure 2 and 3). These results support those reported in Helmuth et al. (2006), a comprehensive analysis of mussel body temperature across the west coast of the United States. While this may seem counterintuitive, because often temperature is predicted to increase with latitude, the timing of midday low tides for northern sites leads to higher daily maxima experienced by *M. californianus* (Helmuth et al., 2002).

This study further examined annual patterns summarized as monthly averaged mean and maximum daily temperature (Figure 3). For each site, available data to calculate these summary statistics ranged from 5-17 years, providing a robust analysis of temporal patterns.

While these results may not provide specific information on lethal thermal anomalies experienced by *M. californianus* (i.e., specific instances when temperature exceeds maximum thermal thresholds), they can provide insight into how thermal patterns influence mussels on long-term scales. This information can be useful in determining how temperature may be related to the phenology of important life history traits such as gametogenesis, spawning, and recruitment. For example, previous studies have documented differences in timing of spawning and recruitment between mussels in Oregon and California (Broitman et al., 2008), where spawning is highest from June-July in Oregon and occurs year-round in California (Strathmann, 1987; Broitman et al., 2008). Similarly, results from this study showed distinct differences in annual temperature patterns across Oregon and California (Figure 3 and 4). Together these studies may suggest that temporal patterns experienced by mussels may influence reproductive capacity or timing of spawning, however further research investigating this potential relationship is needed. Lastly if temperature does influence the phenology of important life history events in *M. californianus*, as with other species (Scranton and Amarasekare, 2017), knowledge of these natural patterns is critical if we are to understand whether prolonged climactic events such as the 2014-2015 MHW have the potential to shift the timing of these events in natural populations.

Impacts of MHWs on M. californianus body temperature

With this in mind, the second goal of this study was to investigate the impact of the 2014-2015 MHW on *M. californianus* body temperature. Here I found that *M. californianus* experienced higher temperatures relative to the climatological mean during 2014 and 2015. The average increase ranged from 0.75 - 2.66 °C in 2014 and 2015 (Table 2). However, due

to missing data, predominantly for 2015, these values may not be entirely representative of the impact of heatwave events. Temperature increases were higher for California sites than Oregon sites, and the onset of these elevated temperature occurred earlier in California than in Oregon. Examination of the 90th percentile of mean daily temperature across the dataset revealed that during MHW years California sites experienced a higher percentage of its warmest days compared to Oregon sites. To further determine how thermal profiles were altered during the MHW, periods during robomussel immersion and emersion were separated and analyzed independently. Here I found that deviation from the mean was higher for mussels during immersion than emersion (Figure 6 and 7). Together these results provide useful information to better understand how MHWs could influence *M. californianus* physiological conditions.

Temperature effects on *M. californianus* performance have been the center of numerous studies (Zippay and Helmuth, 2012). Such studies have examined changes in metabolic rate, filtration rate, growth, and reproductive capacity (Bayne et al., 1976; Blanchette et al., 2007; Petes et al., 2008). Generally, elevated temperatures during immersion increases filtration rate leading to mussel growth when food is available (Bayne et al., 1976; Blanchette et al., 2007). However, growth has been documented to decrease when temperature exceeds 20°C for some populations (Coe and Fox, 1942). In this regard, if food remains available, increased temperature associated with MHWs may not negatively impact populations that do not exceed their thermal limits. This idea would support the increased mussel cover observed following the 2014-2016 MHW in the Gulf of Alaska and British Columbia (Weitzman et al., 2021; Whalen et al., 2023). However, it is important to note that these changes in abundance may also be due to other factors such as increased recruitment, a

decrease in competition for space, and reduced predation rates (Weitzman et al., 2021; Traiger et al., 2022; Whalen et al., 2023). While elevated temperatures associated with MHWs may positively impact sites where *M. californianus* are exposed to temperatures well below their upper thermal limits, this may not be the case for those inhabiting warmer regions. Of all the sites examined in this study, mussels at the most southern site in California, CP, experienced prolonged temperatures above 20°C during MHW years. Conditions such as these may have contributed to the decrease in mussel cover at sites along the southern California coast (Miner et al., 2021). Thus, susceptibility to MHW conditions may depend on whether *M. californianus* are inhabiting areas where conditions are currently near physiological limits.

Impacts of AHWs on M. californianus body temperature

The final objective of this study was to determine the extent to which a recent AHW, the Pacific Heat Dome, was captured by robomussels deployed at the Oregon sites. Here I found that recorded temperatures were within the naturally occurring range for the study sites. For FC and BB that is $8.9 - 37.3^{\circ}$ C and $8.9 - 37.8^{\circ}$ C, respectively (Figure 8). Interestingly, temperatures regularly documented at both FC and BB, were above the lethal limits reported for *M. californianus* (36-38°C) (Denny et al., 2011). My initial thoughts were that these observed temperatures may not be representative of the actual temperatures occurring in the mussel bed as they were recorded during early deployment of the robomussels. However, these patterns were also observed during the initial deployment of robomussels (2000-2014). The discrepancy between the reported lethal limit value and the persistence of live mussels, may be due to fact that this LT₅₀ value was derived from mussels located in Pacific Grove, California. As mentioned previously, mussels at higher latitude sites are regularly exposed to temperature extremes, as summer low tides occur during midday. This difference in exposure could lead to differences in thermal acclimatization or local adaptation that could result in higher upper tolerance limits (Howells et al., 2012).

Conclusions

In this thesis chapter I provided new information on natural fluctuations of *M*. *californianus* body temperature across their biogeographic range and how they were influenced by recent marine and aerial heatwaves. Overall, my results show distinct differences in thermal patterns experienced by *M. californianus* across latitude. Moreover, results suggest that across latitude *M. californianus* vary in their susceptibility to MHW and AHW events. As heatwaves are predicted to increase in intensity, frequency, and duration (Oliver et al., 2021), understanding their impacts on the performance of critical species such as *M. californianus* will be important in determining ecosystem response (Miner et al., 2021).

Temperature data from biomimetic temperature loggers, robomussels, provided critical insight into organism thermal experience that is not accurately captured by conventional temperature sensors (Helmuth et al., 2016). Thus, I was able to make physiologically meaningful comparisons between *M. californianus* body temperature and measurements of abundance documented in prior studies. For other calcifying foundation species such as coral, this approach to physiological monitoring may be useful. As their morphological complexity may lead to body temperatures that are not accurately captured by conventional temperature sensors. Lastly, recognition of natural patterns and anomalies was possible due to the long-

term nature of the dataset which highlights the importance of long-term data for assessing the impacts of climate change on species response.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my collaborator Dr. Gretchen Hofmann. I am thankful for Avery Parsons-Field, Dasun Hemachandra, Aida Loza, Adriane McDonald, Amelia Ritger, Alexis Reynoso, Leeza-Marie Rodriguez, and the Menge Lab at Oregon State University who assisted in fieldwork and collection of the data. Finally, I thank Drs. Erika Eliason and Nick Nidzieko for feedback provided in the analysis of the data and writing of this chapter. During this study, I was supported by an NSF Graduate Research Fellowship and the UCSB Graduate Division Gradate Opportunity Fellowship. This research was supported by funding from the Schmidt Family Foundation.

Figures & Tables

Table 1. Average tide height (reported as height above mean lower low water [MLLW]) for mid zone robomussel deployments. Original robomussels are those deployed prior to 2015, new robomussels are those deployed in 2019 or later.

Site	Original	New
Fogarty Creek	1.48 m	2.75 m
Boiler Bay	1.20 m	2.28 m
Strawberry Hill	1.08 m	3.38 m
Cape Blanco	-	2.43 m
Bodega Marine Reserve	1.22 m	-
Lompoc Landing	0.65 m	1.32 m
Coal Oil Point	0.66 m	1.32 m

Table 2. Average \pm standard deviation increase in temperature recorded during MHW years (i.e., 2014 and 2015) compared to climatological mean for each site.

Site	2014	2015
Fogarty Creek	1.34 ± 1.47	1.78 ± 1.41
Boiler Bay	1.18 ± 1.53	-
Strawberry Hill	0.75 ± 1.59	-
Bodega Marine Reserve	1.36 ± 1.30	-
Lompoc Landing	1.61 ± 1.43	1.54 ± 1.66
Coal Oil Point	1.38 ± 1.30	2.66 ± 1.60



Figure 1. Map of rocky intertidal sites used in temperature analysis. From north to south, Fogarty Creek (FC), Boiler Bay (BB), Strawberry Hill (SH), Bodega Marine Reserve (BD), Lompoc Landing (LL), and Coal Oil Point (CP).



Figure 2. Heat map displaying A) mean and B) maximum daily temperature for all sites. Temperature was collected using robomussels in the mid zone of the mussel bed. White regions are periods when temperature data was not collected.



Figure 3. Monthly averaged A) mean and B) maximum daily temperature, for 2000-2023 when data was available.



Figure 4. Cross-correlation matrix displaying the relationship between each site for monthly averaged A) mean and B) maximum daily temperature.



Figure 5. Temperature recorded by robomussels prior and during MHW years for each intertidal site. The red and purple lines represent 2014 and 2015, respectively; the grey line represents the climatological mean (i.e., 2000-2013 when data is available). Shaded area represents \pm standard deviation.



Figure 6. Temperature recorded by *immersed* robomussels prior and during MHW years for each intertidal site. The red and purple lines represent 2014 and 2015, respectively; the grey line represents the climatological mean (i.e., 2000-2013 when data is available). Shaded area represents \pm standard deviation.



Figure 7. Temperature recorded by *emersed* robomussels prior and during MHW years for each intertidal site. The red and purple lines represent 2014 and 2015, respectively; the grey line represents the climatological mean (i.e., 2000-2013 when data is available). Shaded area represents \pm standard deviation.



Figure 8. Temperature recorded at A) FC and B) BB, from June 2021- September 2021. The is Pacific Heat Dome highlighted in red.

III. Field acclimatization of adults influences offspring performance in the rocky intertidal mussel, *Mytilus californianus*

Introduction

While the number of transgenerational plasticity (TGP) studies on marine species has steadily increased and improved our understanding of the role these processes may play in response to anthropogenic climate change, most studies have been conducted in the laboratory (Byrne et al., 2020). TGP studies conducted in controlled laboratory settings are critical as they allow researchers to narrow in on specific drivers of interest (i.e., temperature, pCO₂, food availability), however, information gained from these studies is not a complete representation of how these processes function in nature. Natural populations experience a mosaic of environmental variables that change over time and space (Helmuth et al., 2006; Hoshijima and Hofmann, 2019). Thus, if we are to accurately predict how TGP may influence organismal response to climate change, field-based studies are needed. In this chapter, I conducted a field-to-laboratory experiment to investigate how thermal exposure to natural varying conditions influences TGP in field acclimatized *Mytilus californianus*.

TGP studies in the field and laboratory

Field studies examining TGP under naturally occurring abiotic conditions that differ across time and space have provided critical insight into how parental exposure may impact offspring response to climate change associated stressors. For example, in a study on Atlantic silverside (*Menidia menidia*) researchers found that early developing offspring were more sensitive to high pCO₂ conditions when spawned earlier in the spawning season than those spawned later, which became increasingly tolerant to elevated pCO₂ conditions. Increased tolerance to elevated pCO₂ conditions by offspring corresponded to pCO₂ experienced by adults in the wild, suggesting that parents could seasonally condition offspring to acidified conditions (Murray et al., 2014). Spatial variation in acclimation environments can also impact TGP, for example in a study on *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*, researchers found that offspring from urchins held outside of a kelp forest had higher thermal tolerance than those from parents held inside a kelp forest during their period of gametogenesis (Kozal and Hofmann, in revision). Since physiochemical properties of seawater differ among these sites (i.e., inside and outside of the kelp forests), it is predicted that adult exposure to these differing conditions could have induced a transgenerational effect altering offspring performance. Field-based studies such as these providing evidence for the occurrence of TGP in nature, together with laboratory studies examining its underlying mechanisms are critical areas of marine science research as this will help determine the role that TGP will play in species response to global climate change.

For bivalve species, numerous studies have examined TGP with most investigating the effects of ocean acidification in a laboratory setting. Several studies have reported positive effects where progeny from adults conditioned to acidified conditions show lower sensitivity to acidified conditions than progeny from adults held at control conditions (Parker et al., 2015; Spencer et al., 2020). However, in a recent meta-analysis looking at the effects of pH, researchers found that overall parental conditioning to acidified conditions produced offspring that were still negatively affected by acidification (Byrne et al., 2020). But, for some traits such as growth, the degree to which progeny were negatively affected was reduced when adults were conditioned to low pH conditions (Byrne et al., 2020). In terms of

field-based studies, researchers examining TGP in *M. californianus* found that offspring thermal tolerance decreased in relation to parental exposure to thermal stress associated with tide height and season (Waite and Sorte, 2022). While the quantity of studies examining TGP in response to acidification has allowed us to make generalizations, studies on other climate change stressors (i.e., changes in temperature, dissolved oxygen, and salinity) and/or in field conditions remain understudied.

In this study I investigated TGP driven by field acclimatization in natural populations of rocky intertidal mussels, *M. californianus*. Across tidal height in the intertidal zone, and subsequently mussel beds, thermal gradients exist due to the tide cycle (Denny et al., 2011; Zippay and Helmuth, 2012). At the upper edge, organisms are emerged during low tide exposing them to air temperature, solar radiation, and wind, often leading to higher and more variable temperatures. At the lower edge, organisms spend more time immersed, thus experiencing lower and less variable temperatures (Helmuth et al., 2016). Because the timing of low tides changes throughout the year, thermal exposure of intertidal organisms is additionally affected by seasonal changes in aerial and seawater temperature. In *M. californianus* temperature exposure across tidal height and season has been shown to impact within generation acclimatory responses at the organismal to molecular level (Roberts et al., 1997; Place et al., 2012; Moyen et al., 2019), thus, for this thesis chapter, I was interested in examining if this acclimatory response could extend to the next generation.

Summary of the study

Using the rocky intertidal ecosystem as the study system not only allowed me to investigate TGP in natural populations, but as deleterious heatwaves are becoming more

prominent in the rocky intertidal zone (Seuront et al., 2019), differences in thermal exposure provide a space-for-time approach to understanding TGP under climate warming. Here, I narrowed in on temperature acclimatization, with regard to season and tidal height, as a diver of TGP in *M. californianus*. To characterize temperature profiles experienced by adult *M*. californianus I collected high frequency in situ measurements using biomimetic temperature loggers located at high and low zones of the mussel bed over the course of the adult acclimatization (Helmuth et al., 2016). Using temperature data to inform collection dates, adult *M. californianus* were collected following the summer and winter season. Because seawater temperatures are warming (Oliver et al., 2021), I was further interested in investigating how temperature experienced by developing larvae impact performance. Thus, offspring from each adult acclimatization treatment (i.e., season-zone) were reared in cool $(16^{\circ}C)$ and warm $(20^{\circ}C)$ temperature conditions, allowing me to examine the influence of parental and developmental conditions on larval performance. At the veliger larvae stage, physiological performance of offspring was assessed via measurements of body size, respiration rate, and thermal tolerance. Lastly, to gain insight as to whether differences in maternal provisioning may be a contributing factor to offspring performance, egg size was measured for spawned eggs from females in each acclimatization treatment. Based on findings from prior studies on TGP and IGP on *M. californianus*, my general hypotheses were that 1) adults acclimatized to higher temperatures (i.e., high zone and/or summer acclimatized) would produce less thermally tolerant progeny, 2) larvae reared at warmer developmental temperature would be more thermally tolerant those reared at cool temperatures and 3) eggs from adults acclimatized to higher temperatures would be smaller in size.

Materials and Methods

Measurements of adult mussel temperature

To accurately characterize environmental temperature experienced by intertidal mussels across tidal height and season, robomussels (ElecticBlue, Portugal) were deployed at the upper and lower edge of the mussel bed (henceforth known as the high (H) and low (L) zone) at the rocky intertidal field site, Lompoc Landing, CA. High and low zone loggers were deployed at approximately 2.74 m and 1.13 m above mean lower low water (MLLW), respectively. Temperature loggers were programmed to record temperature at 30 min intervals at a resolution of 0.1°C for a year from April 01, 2021 – March 30, 2022.

To assess differences in temperature exposure across tidal height over the course of the year, daily mean, daily maximum, and daily range in temperature were averaged monthly for high and low zone robomussels. Additionally, overall mean temperature and range in temperature of each adult acclimatization treatment (i.e., season-zone) was also calculated. Each season was defined as the three months prior to each adult collection. Heat stress across tidal height and season was also estimated. Using temperature values documented in the literature, heat exposure was classified as either "moderate" or "severe" heat stress. Moderate heat stress was defined as temperature exposure between 23-30°C, as this temperature range coincides with the onset of a heat shock response in *M. californianus* (Roberts et al., 1997). Exposure above 30°C was defined as severe heat stress as these temperatures have induced death in *M. californianus* (Denny et al., 2011; Waite and Sorte, 2022).

In terms of reproductive timing, *M. californianus* inhabiting the shores of California are good candidates for examining how environmental conditions experienced during gametogenesis influence gametes and offspring performance. In California, mussels have

been documented to spawn year-round, producing gametes in relatively short time intervals (i.e., within a month) (Coe and Fox, 1942; Young, 1942; Phillips, 2007a). Thus, I am confident that gametogenesis occurred during the adult acclimatization window (i.e., three months prior to collection) described in this study.

Mussel collection and spawning

To determine how adult acclimatization associated with tidal height and seasonal temperatures impacts gametes and offspring performance, adult *M. californianus* from the high and low zone were collected during a low tide series on August 19, 2021, and March 30, 2022 (Figure 1). Hereafter, these collection dates will be referred to as summer and winter, as they correspond to the seasonal acclimatization experienced by adults prior to collection. For each collection date, forty adult mussels were collected from each zone then transported to the University of California, Santa Barbara, where mussels were held overnight in a flow-through seawater table at ambient temperature. Following the 24 hr acclimation adults were spawned. Mussels were collected under the California Department of Fish and Wildlife Scientific Collecting permit #SC-210480009.

Mussels were induced to spawn via "mechanical stimulation", which involved scraping and removing all epifauna attached to the shells, then being placed in a bucket, and shaken for approximately 2 min. Mussels were then rinsed and placed communally in plastic containers containing UV sterilized 0.35micron filtered seawater (FSW). Mussels collected from each zone (i.e., H and L) were maintained in separate plastic containers. Once a mussel began to release gametes it was promptly removed, rinsed with fresh and FSW, and placed in an individual beaker. Males were placed in a dry beaker to prevent sperm from becoming

active until time of fertilization. Spawning females were placed in beakers containing FSW. As spawning terminated, individual mussels were removed from each beaker.

Larval culturing and sampling

For analysis of egg traits and larval culturing, five females with the highest quality eggs were selected from each adult acclimatization treatment. Adult acclimatization treatment refers to the conditions experienced by the parents *in situ*, that is, whether mussels were collected following the summer or winter season from the high or low zone. In total, eggs from twenty females were supplied over the course to experiment (Figure 1). Quality of eggs and sperm were assessed visually using a compound microscope. For each larval culturing run (i.e., summer and winter), eggs from high and low females were pooled and fertilized by a single low zone male. Since this experiment focused on the influence of maternal acclimatization on TGP, only one sire was chosen to reduce differences in offspring phenotype that may be attributed to genetic diversity. Pooled eggs from each acclimatization treatment were gently mixed with dilute activated sperm. When 80% fertilization was observed, embryos were deposited in larval culturing containers stocked at 90,000 embryos per container.

Larval culturing containers were maintained at a cool (C: ~16°C) or warm temperature (W: ~ 20°C), creating a total for four treatment groups for each seasonal collection. The treatment groups are denoted as HW, HC, LW, LC, where the first letter indicating the collection zone (i.e., high vs low zone) and the second letter indicating the developmental rearing temperature (i.e., C vs W). Each of the four groups were raised in three replicate culturing containers (Figure 1). The culturing container consisted of two

nested 19L buckets. The inner bucket, which held the developing embryos, had mesh (35micon) covered cutouts which allowed incoming sea water to leave the bucket without losing the embryos. Culturing containers were held in a seawater table, acting as a water bath, to maintain temperature. FSW, which was first supplied to a reservoir tank to come to temperature, was supplied to each container via a drip irrigation system at a flow rate of 6L/hr. The temperature of the seawater table was controlled using a Delta Star® heat pump with a Nema 4x digital temperature controller (AquaLogic, San Diego, CA, USA).

Embryos developed at experimental temperatures until they exhibited distinguishing characteristics of a D-stage veliger. That is, the body became laterally compressed, with a bivalved shell and a straight hinge (Strathmann, 1987). At this stage, larvae were sampled for analysis of body size, respiration rate, and thermal tolerance. Sampling occurred at approximately 34 and 46 hours post fertilization (hpf) for warm and cool acclimated larvae, respectively.

Egg and larval morphometrics

Promptly following spawning, 500 eggs from each female (N=20) that contributed to larval cultures were collected for analysis of egg size. Eggs were preserved in 2% formalin in FSW, which was achieved by adding an equal volume of 4% formalin to the sample volume. Preserved eggs were promptly photographed for morphometric analysis using a compound microscope (Olympus BX50) with an attached digital camera (Motic 10 MP and Motic Image Plus software). Images were measured using ImageJ (National Institutes of Health, USA) and calibrated with stage micrometer. Between 30-35 eggs were measured from each contributing female. Eggs size was assessed by measuring average egg diameter and two-

dimensional (2D) area. Diameter was calculated by averaging the length of three diameters for each egg. Area was measured and calculated by tracing around the perimeter of each egg. For veliger larvae, 500 larvae from each culturing container were collected for analysis of body size. Larvae were preserved and photographed using the same protocol used for eggs. Photographs were taken of larvae positioned laterally. As a proxy for body size, hinge length and 2D area was measured for approximately 30-35 veliger larvae from each culturing container.

Respirometry

To examine metabolic differences amongst larvae with differing thermal histories, oxygen consumption rates for each treatment were measured. Respiration rate was measured using methods described in Marsh and Manahan (1999), with some modification. For each culturing container (N=24), a subset of larvae were placed in microscale Biological Oxygen Demand (μ BOD) vials (684–795 μ L) containing FSW, at a range of concentrations (approximately 150, 300, 450, 600, 750). All vials were incubated at temperatures corresponding to larval developmental rearing temperature for each treatment (i.e., 20°C or 16°C) for 4.5-7 hrs. In addition, a "blank" vial for each of the container replicates per treatment was filled with only FSW and used as a control to account for any background respiration. Oxygen concentrations of each vial were measured following the incubation time. At the end of the incubation, each μ BOD vial was briefly spun down, and seawater was transferred using a gastight syringe (Hamilton Company, USA) to an optode containing a fiber-optic oxygen meter (Micro TX3; PreSens, Germany). Prior to taking measurements the optode was calibrated using sodium sulfate (Na₂SO₃) and aerated FSW. For each culturing

container a standard curve was generated from which oxygen consumption rate per individual was estimated. Additionally, for each adult acclimatization treatment, the temperature coefficient (Q_{10}) was calculated for respiration rate, using the formula

$$Q_{10} = \left(\frac{R_2}{R_1}\right)^{\frac{10}{T_2 - T_1}}$$

which represents the factor by which the rate (R) of a reaction increases when temperature is raised by ten degrees.

Thermal tolerance, LT50

Upper thermal limit of veliger larvae was determined via an acute thermal tolerance trial. The thermal tolerance trail was conducted following methods described in Wong and Hofmann (2020), with some modification. Briefly, using a gradient heat block, vials containing 3.5mL of FSW were brought to nine temperatures (~28.9, 29.7, 31.1, 32.0, 33.0, 33.9, 35.0, 36.0, 37.4 °C). One thousand larvae in 0.5mL of FSW, from each treatment, were added to each vial. Larvae from replicate culturing containers in each treatment were pooled so that each container contributed equally to the thermal tolerance trial. Vials containing larvae were held at temperature for 1 hr. Following the 1 hr exposure, the first 100 larvae sampled from each vial were scored for survival. Larvae were scored as alive if any swimming or cilia movement was observed using a compound microscope. LT₅₀ (the temperature at which the population experiences 50% mortality) was calculated for each treatment.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted in R studio (vers. 2022.12.0+353). The influence of adult acclimatization (i.e., zone and season) and larval developmental rearing temperature on gamete and offspring phenotype were examined with linear mixed effect models or generalized linear mixed effects models dependent on the data structure, using the *lme4* package (Bates et al., 2015). Model selection between full and reduced models, was performed using Schwarz information criterion (SIC, also called BIC), where the model with the lowest SIC value was assigned the best fit model. However, all models with Δ SIC < 7 were considered (Jerde et al., 2019). To ensure that models fit, model diagnostics were conducted using the *DHARMa* package.

A linear mixed effect model was used to determine the effect of adult acclimatization and larval developmental temperature on veliger body size, where zone, season, and developmental temperature were set as fixed effects and culturing container replicate was set as a random effect. A linear mixed effect model was used to determine the influence of adult acclimatization and larval developmental temperature on veliger larvae respiration rate where, zone, season, and developmental temperature were set as fixed effects and culturing container replicate was set as a random effect. A generalized linear mixed effect model was used to determine the interaction between temperature, adult acclimatization, and larval developmental temperature on larval survivorship, where zone, season, and developmental temperature were set at fixed effects and vial identity was set at a random effect. The binary data (alive vs. dead) were fit using a logit link. The LT₅₀ values were calculated using a logistic regression (*MASS* package) for each treatment. Lastly, a linear mixed effect model
was used to determine the influence of adult acclimatization on egg size, where collection zone and season were set as fixed effects and maternal identity was set as a random effect.

Results

Temperature data from the high and low collection sites

Using temperature data collected by robomussels deployed in the high and low zone of the mussel bed, I was able to characterize temperature experienced by adult mussels throughout the course of the acclimatization period. In general, the high site had a more extreme range of temperatures as compared to the low site. Recorded temperatures ranged from 3.7 - 41.1°C across the mussel bed over the course of the experimental period in the high zone, whereas the range in temperature recorded by low zone loggers was 6.6 - 27.8°C. In addition, the monthly averaged daily mean and daily maximum were greater following the summer acclimatization than the winter for high zone mussels. In contrast, daily range in temperature was similar following the summer and winter season (Figure 2). For low zone mussels, monthly averaged daily mean, daily maximum, and range in daily temperature did not differ following the summer and winter season (Figure 2). Mean, standard deviation, and range in temperature for each adult acclimatization treatment are presented in Table 1. In sum, the robomussel data indicated that the high and low adult mussels had different thermal histories during the acclimatization period, but the degree of variation was dependent on the season.

To capture this, I sought to express heat stress experienced high and low zone mussels via a heat stress index (Figure 3). For high zone mussels, cumulative exposure to moderate heat stress was 87.3% higher in summer than the winter while cumulative exposure

to severe heat stress was 310.5% higher in the summer than winter. For low zone mussels, heat stress exposure was relatively low (i.e., less than 6 hrs). In the summer, mussels from the low zone experienced 4.5 hrs of moderate heat stress, whereas in the winter these mussels only experienced 1 hr of moderate heat stress. Low zone mussels did not experience severe heat stress in the summer or winter season.

Veliger body size

To examine the effects of adult and larval thermal history on offspring traits, body size was measured for D-stage veliger larvae. I found that larval body size was influenced by seasonal acclimatization of the adults and by larval developmental temperature, but not tide height. Hinge length and 2D area were measured as proxy for body size for larvae from each treatment (Figure 4; Table 2). Generally, larvae were larger following the winter season than the summer season at both developmental rearing temperatures (Figure 4; Table 2). Additionally, average body size was generally larger for veliger larvae reared at the warm $(20^{\circ}C)$ developmental temperature than those reared at the cool (16°C) temperature. The best fitting model for veliger hinge length included season and developmental temperature as fixed effects and container replicate as a random effect, where season (seasonWinter df=776.00, t=6.56, p<0.001) and developmental temperature (developmentalTempW) df=776.00, t=5.30, p < 0.001) had a significant effect on veliger length. The best fitting model for veliger area included season, developmental temperature, and their interaction as fixed effects and treatment replicates as a random effect, where developmental temperature (developmentalTempW df=776.00, t=2.84, p= 0.005) and interaction between season and

developmental temperature had a significant effect on veliger area (seasonWinter:developmentalTempW df=776.00, t=4.08, p< 0.001).

Respiration rate

Seasonal acclimatization of the adults interacted with developmental temperature to affect respiration rate. To determine differences in metabolic performance based on adult acclimatization and developmental temperature, oxygen consumption rates were measured for larvae from each treatment. Due to a possible error in vial loading or O₂ measurement, one replicate from the winter-HW treatment was removed. Average individual respiration rate ranged from 5.94 - 11.63 (pmol O₂ h⁻¹ individual⁻¹). Generally, larvae reared in the warm developmental temperature had higher respiration rates than those reared at the cool temperature (Figure 5). The highest respirations rate was recorded for larvae from summer-L acclimatized females reared at the warm developmental temperature. The best fitting model included season, developmental temperature, and their interaction as fixed effects and container replicates as a random effect, where only developmental temperature (developmentalTempW df=23.00, t=5.00, p< 0.001) and the interaction between season and developmental temperature (seasonWinter:developmentalTempW df=23.00, t=-2.48, p= 0.021) had a significant effect on respiration rate. For offspring from summer acclimatized mussels from high and low zone, calculated Q_{10} values were 3.97 and 3.31, respectively. For offspring from winter acclimatized mussels from high and low zone, calculated Q_{10} values were 1.98 and 1.86, respectively.

Thermal tolerance, LT50

Larval LT_{50} was influenced by season, tide height, larval developmental temperature, and their interaction. Calculated LT_{50} values for all treatments ranged from 34.4 - 36.5 °C (Figure 6; Table 3). Notably, veliger larvae reared in the cool developmental temperature, had higher LT_{50} values than those reared in the warm temperature, irrespective of adult history in the field. There was greater variation in LT_{50} values amongst progeny from summer-acclimatized than winter-acclimatized mussels. For each treatment offspring from winter-acclimatized mussels tended to have higher thermal tolerance than summeracclimatized mussels. The best fit generalized linear mixed effect model included temperature, temperature:season, temperature:zone, temperature:developmental temperature, temperature:season:developmental temperature, as fixed effects and individual vial identity as a random effect, all of which had a significant effect on thermal tolerance (Table 4).

Egg size

Adult acclimatization did not influence egg size. Eggs from high zone females collected after the summer acclimatization (summer-H) period trended larger in size (i.e., average diameter and area) compared to the three other acclimatization treatments (summer-L, winter-H, winter-L) (Figure 7). However, there was not a significant effect of season or zone on egg size. The best fit model for both egg average diameter and area only included maternal identity as a predictor variable.

Discussion

The overarching goal of this chapter was 1) to determine if adult acclimatization *in situ* to differing thermal profiles could induce a transgenerational response in larval offspring, and 2) to investigate how temperature experienced by developing mussel larvae may interact with the adult thermal history to affect larval physiological performance. The bigger picture results were that thermal history of adult mussels differed with time and space, moreover, laboratory experiments detected transgenerational effects of adult seasonal acclimatization and larval developmental temperature on larval performance.

Using biomimetic temperature loggers, thermal exposure was estimated for natural populations of adult *M. californianus* across time (i.e., season) and space (i.e., tidal height). Robomussel-collected temperature data showed that mussels in the high intertidal zone experienced higher, more variable temperatures than mussels in the low intertidal zone. However, the magnitude of these differences changed with the season. These data were a critical foundation to the overall study – as the difference in adult thermal history was needed to form hypotheses and inform adult collections for laboratory experiments.

My general hypotheses were that 1) adults acclimatized to higher temperatures (i.e., high zone and/or summer acclimatized) would produce less thermally tolerant progeny, and 2) larvae reared at warmer developmental temperature would be more thermally tolerant those reared at cool temperatures. With regard to the effect of adult thermal history, there was a distinct difference between summer and winter-sourced larvae. Larvae from both high and low winter-exposed mussels were generally larger, had lower respiration rates, and a higher LT₅₀ than larvae from summer-exposed adults when reared at the same temperature. Generally, tide height did not influence offspring performance. In terms of the effects of

developmental temperature, larvae reared in the warm temperature were larger, had higher metabolic rates, and a lower LT_{50} than those reared in at the cool temperature.

Together these results show that adults acclimatized to summer temperatures, had less thermally tolerant larvae, indicative of a negative carry-over effect. Moreover, larvae reared at the warm developmental temperature were less thermally tolerant than their cool counterparts. While these results suggest that thermal histories, both trans- and intragenerational, can influence larval performance, the direction in which larval performance was shifted regarding temperature partially support my initial hypotheses for transgenerational effects but not intragenerational effects. Lastly, in an examination of gamete size in assessment of maternal investment as a mechanism of TGP, differences in egg size were not observed.

Adult temperature experience as a function of season and tide height

A critical component of this study was to collect high frequency *in situ* measurements of temperature experienced by *M. californianus* at the microhabitat level to provide evidence of varying thermal acclimatization patterns that exist across time and space in the mussel bed. Temperature profiles along tidal height were similar to those documented in the literature, where high zone mussels experience higher and more variable temperatures than low zone mussels (Miller and Dowd, 2017). The range in temperatures observed at my field site spanned 3.7 - 41.1°C degrees in the high zone and 6.6 - 27.8°C degrees in the low zone. Monthly patterns observed in our experiment were also similar to past studies examining seasonal temperatures in *M. californianus* beds in California, where peak temperatures occurred between the months of May and June, then proceeded to decline reaching the lowest temperatures during the month of December (Helmuth and Hofmann, 2002). While

temperature differences between the high and low zone were evident at shorter time scales (i.e., days and months), seasonal averages in the high and low zone were relatively similar (Table 1).

In an examination of heat stress, where the cumulative time exposed to temperatures that have been documented to induce moderate (i.e., a heat shock response) or severe (i.e., death measured via LT₅₀) stress, results show that high zone mussels overall experienced higher stress than low mussels. Specifically, following the summer acclimatization, mussels in the high zone experienced the highest heat stress (moderate and severe). Differences in temperature patterns and heat stress experienced by high and low mussels following the two seasons supported my efforts to collect adult *M. californianus* acclimatized to different thermal regimes.

Differences in temporal and spatial temperature profiles that exist at the microhabitat scale (i.e., tide height) have been shown to impact adult thermal physiology from the molecular to organismal level. For example, in a study by Roberts and colleagues, synthesis of heat shock proteins varied with season but not tidal height in *M. californianus* (Roberts et al., 1997). However, differential gene expression in high vs. low mussels has been observed (Place et al., 2012). At the whole organism level, Moyen and colleagues found that upper thermal tolerance, measured via critical temperature for cardiac performance, was higher for high zone mussels (Moyen et al., 2019), but this pattern is not consistent in measurements of LT₅₀ (see Waite and Sorte (2022)). Such studies, together with the observed differences in thermal histories documented in this study provided initial motivation to further investigate if acclimatory responses experienced by adults could be passed onto the next generation.

Transgenerational and intragenerational effects on veliger larvae

There is a significant body of literature on TGP and molluscs, with studies showing how environmental history of adults influences larval performance (Ross et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2020). Carry-over effects have been documented in oysters, mussels, and clams (Byrne et al., 2020) and specifically in *M. Californianus* (Waite and Sorte, 2022). Studies of this nature have indicated that parental exposure influences the performance and traits of progeny, but two key elements remain understudied 1) how seasonal changes in adult history would impact TGP, and 2) how variable developmental temperatures would influence larval physiology and traits. The second point connects directly to climate change where larvae may develop under marine heatwave conditions (warmer) or upwelling conditions (cooler) regardless of adult thermal history.

Analysis of larval body size showed that seasonal acclimatization and larval developmental temperature, but not tidal height, had a significant effect on veliger size. For high and low zone mussels, progeny were larger following the winter season, than the summer. Moreover, larval developmental temperature had the largest effect, where larvae reared at warmer temperatures were larger than those reared in the cool temperature treatment. For larval invertebrates, larger body size is hypothesized to be associated with greater fitness (Strathmann, 1971; Allen and McAlister, 2007), and a pattern of larger body size at warm developmental temperatures has been frequently observed (Byrne, 2011). While development in warmer temperatures can lead to benefits such as increased size, there may be inherent tradeoffs if the energetic demand of growth and metabolism are not met (Clarke, 2017).

To determine differences in metabolic performance based on adult acclimatization and larval developmental temperature, respiration rates (measured as oxygen consumption rates) were assessed for each treatment. Here, higher developmental temperature increased respiration rate in larvae from all adult acclimatization treatments, as expected for ectothermic species (Schulte, 2015). Additionally, statistical analysis revealed significant interactions between developmental temperature and season on respiration rate. Here, the difference in respiration rates between larvae from warm and cool developmental treatments decreased following the winter season. This pattern is most evident when looking at the difference in Q₁₀ values for progeny from each adult acclimatization treatment. Progeny from summer-acclimatized mussels had Q_{10} values between 3.97 and 3.31, and winter larvae had Q_{10} values between 1.98 and 1.86. Such differences indicate that progeny from summeracclimatized mussels may be more sensitive to temperature, with regard to metabolic rate. To our knowledge this is the first assessment of Q10 values for *M. californianus* larvae, however, studies on other mollusc larvae have presented similar values (Lough and Gonor, 1973; Lazo and Pita, 2012).

In an assessment of upper thermal tolerance, adult acclimatization (i.e., season and tide height) and larval developmental history significantly influenced LT_{50} values of veliger larvae. LT_{50} values, the temperature at which 50% of the population experiences death, were measured and calculated using an acute thermal tolerance trial for each treatment. Overall, LT_{50} ranged from 34.4 – 36.5°C. Developmental temperature appeared to have the largest influence on larval thermal tolerance, where LT_{50} was lower for larvae reared in the warm temperature treatment. Additionally, offspring from winter-acclimatized mussels generally had higher LT_{50} values than offspring from summer-acclimatized mussels, when reared at the

same temperature (i.e., W and C). While statistical analysis revealed a significant effect of tidal height on LT₅₀, this influence was mostly driven by the high LT₅₀ of the summer-LC treatment and does not accurately describe observed trends in the data. For all other adult acclimatization treatments, offspring from low zone mussels had lower thermal tolerance than offspring from high zone mussels, which was partially described by the significance interaction between zone and season observed (Table 4). The observation of lower larval LT₅₀ following warmer acclimatization of adults *in situ* is consistent with those documented by Waite and Sorte, however unlike their study I did not observe a carry-over effect with relation to tide height (Waite and Sorte, 2022). While few studies have examined the influence of parental thermal history on offspring thermal tolerance in bivalves, studies on other marine invertebrate species are more prevalent (Putnam and Gates, 2015; Morley et al., 2017; Rivera et al., 2021; Chamorro et al., 2023; Leach and Hofmann, 2023). Generally, these studies have shown adult exposure to elevated temperature increased thermal tolerance, however results are species dependent.

In this study it is interesting to note that there was a significant effect of seasonal acclimatization on offspring physiological performance metrics but not tidal height, since temperature differences were most evident between high and low mussels. Average temperatures experienced by mussels following the winter season were similar to those experienced by low mussels following the summer season (Table 1), therefore if adult thermal exposure was the only factor influencing offspring performance, I would predict that offspring from low zone summer mussels would exhibit similar performance to offspring from winter mussels. This leads me to believe that there are other factors that fluctuate with season, than may support the transgenerational effect observed in our study. Such factors

may include, but are not limited to food availability, emersion time, and exposure to upwelling. Since each of these factors has been shown to impact adult condition of mussels (Seed, 1968; Menge et al., 1997), it is possible for their influence to extend into the next generation.

Lastly, in the observation that seasonal acclimatization significantly influenced offspring performance, there is one caveat which relates to the experimental design of the study. In order to focus the study on the maternal influence of TGP of offspring performance, sperm from only one male was used to fertilize all eggs for each season. Thus, I cannot say that difference in performance was not attributed to the genetic influence of each male used. However, this experimental design increases the power of the results such that results are more likely due to maternal effects and not the result of a mixed population with variable quality and sperm-egg incompatibilities. Moreover, my results of negative carry-over effects associated with higher seasonal temperatures are supported by those observed in Waite and Sorte which employed multiple males in their experimental design (2022).

In all metrics of physiological performance larval developmental temperature had a dominating influence. Here, larvae reared in the warm developmental temperature treatment were larger, had higher respiration rates, and a lower LT₅₀. The increase in metabolic rate and size, and decrease in LT₅₀ suggests an energetic tradeoff, where the elevated temperature treatment is increasing metabolic rate and growth at the cost of thermal tolerance. While thermal tolerance is compromised, it not likely that *M. californianus* larvae would experience temperature close to the LT₅₀ values documented in our study while in the water column. Therefore, increased size and growth rate may be more advantages as it could reduce planktonic larval duration, a time at which larvae are most susceptible to predation (Byrne,

2011). The advantage of developing at warm developmental temperature are likely linked with food availability. If there is not sufficient food available to compensate for the elevated metabolic demand associated with the warmer temperature, it maybe that these developmental conditions are more deleterious than developing at cool temperatures.

Maternal investment as a mechanism of TGP

As a measure of maternal investment, size of spawned eggs was compared for females from each acclimatization treatment. While eggs from high zone summeracclimatized females trended higher in size, there was not a significant influence of season or tide height on egg size. Our results are in line with past studies examining the influence of adult acclimatization on egg traits, where season and collection site did not affect egg size or energetic content (Phillips, 2007b). However, contrary to our results, Waite and Sorte found that females from high tide height produced significantly smaller eggs than low zone females in the fall, but difference amongst tide height was not significant in the spring (2022). While egg size can provide some insight into maternal investment, the relationship is not clear since size is not always correlated with energetic content (further explored in the Chapter IV). Further research on egg traits such as biochemical composition will provide insight into maternal investment.

Conclusions

In this chapter I provided evidence demonstrating that thermal history, both trans- and intra-generational, influenced larval physiological performance. Results from this field-to-laboratory experiment showed that summer acclimatization of adults *in situ* negatively impacted offspring thermal performance. While temperature is likely to have influenced the

observed difference in larval performance, the lack of zonal influence indicates that seasonal temperature is perhaps linked with other abiotic and biotic factors (Roberts et al., 1997; Blanchette et al., 2007). Field experiments such as this one provide a more accurate representation of conditions experienced by organisms in nature, however, disentangling the factors influencing observed traits is more difficult. In terms of heatwaves effects, the lack of zonal influence on offspring performance, specifically in the summer-acclimatized mussels may be seen as positive. High zone mussels were exposed to numerous hours of heat stress, but their progeny did not differ significantly from low zone mussels. In this space for time analysis, where high zone mussels are theorized to be experiencing future conditions associated with warming, it would seem as though larvae from mussels currently inhabiting lower shore elevations may not be severely impacted by future warming. Lastly, developmental temperature had a major impact on offspring performance, where larvae reared at warmer temperatures were larger, but it came at the expense of thermal tolerance. In a warming ocean, where the prevalence of MHWs are increasing this may be beneficial for larvae if they are able to reduce their planktonic larval duration, however food availability will play a large role in determining whether or not this will be advantageous. Overall, results from this chapter provide critical insight into how trans- and intra-generational acclimation processes function in nature and their role in determining species response to ongoing and future climate change.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my collaborator Dr. Gretchen Hofmann. I am thankful for Avery Parsons-Field who assisted in fieldwork and provided key insight into selecting the field site used in this study. I am grateful for Dr. Terence Leach, Dr. Logan Kozal, Dr. Sam Bogan, Adriane McDonald, Erin de Leon Sanchez, and Alicia Subgani, who assisted in the mussel spawning, larval culturing, and live larval assessments. Finally, I thank Drs. Erika Eliason and Nick Nidzieko for feedback provided in the writing of this chapter. During the course of this experiment, I was supported by an NSF Graduate Research Fellowship. This research was supported by funding from the PADI Foundation and the UC Santa Barbara Associated Students Coastal Fund.

Figures & Tables

Table 1. Mean (\pm standard deviation) temperature and the range in temperature recorded in the high (H) and low (L) zone following the summer and winter season. Each season is defined as the three months prior to adult collection.

Season	Zone	Mean Temp (°C)	Temp Range (°C)
Summer	Н	16.5 ± 5.3	7.8 - 41.1
Summer	L	13.9 ± 1.5	7.9 - 27.8
Winter	Н	13.3 ± 4.8	3.7 - 33.0
Winter	L	13.0 ± 1.1	9.0 - 23.6

Table 2. Mean (\pm standard deviation) body size, measured as hinge length (mm) and area (mm²) for veliger larvae from each treatment (i.e., season-zone-developmental temperature).

Season	Zone	Developmental Temp	Hinge Length (mm)	Area (mm ²)
Summer	Н	С	0.082 ± 0.003	0.0067 ± 0.0003
Summer	Н	W	0.082 ± 0.004	0.0068 ± 0.0003
Summer	L	С	0.082 ± 0.003	0.0067 ± 0.0003
Summer	L	W	0.084 ± 0.004	0.0069 ± 0.0003
Winter	Н	С	0.084 ± 0.003	0.0068 ± 0.0003
Winter	Н	W	0.086 ± 0.004	0.0071 ± 0.0003
Winter	L	С	0.083 ± 0.004	0.0068 ± 0.0003
Winter	L	W	0.084 ± 0.003	0.0070 ± 0.0003

Table 3. Calculated LT₅₀ values for veliger larvae following and acute thermal tolerance trial from each treatment.

Season	Zone	Developmental Temp	$LT_{50}(^{\circ}C)$
Summer	Н	W	34.62
Summer	L	W	34.40
Summer	Н	С	35.36
Summer	L	С	36.46
Winter	Н	W	35.23
Winter	L	W	35.16
Winter	Н	С	35.75
Winter	L	С	35.55

Table 4. Results from generalized linear mixed effect model on veliger thermal tolerance.

 Bold values indicate factors and interactions which have a significant effect.

	Estimate	Std. Error	z-value	<i>p</i> -value
Intercept	75.282	3.736	20.151	<0.001
Temp	-2.153	0.108	-19.864	<0.001
Temp: Zone (L)	0.071	0.013	5.6	<0.001
Temp: Developmental Temp (W)	-0.076	0.021	-3.545	<0.001
Temp: Season (Winter)	0.051	0.008	6.34	<0.001
Temp: Zone (L): Season (Winter)	-0.075	0.020	-3.736	<0.001



Figure 1. Experimental Design. 1) Adult mussels were collected from the high and low zone following the summer and winter season (N=160 total). 2) Mussels were spawned and eggs from five females from each adult acclimatization treatment (i.e., season-zone) were pooled and fertilized with sperm from a single low zone male. 3) Fertilized embryos were reared in warm (W: 20°C) and cool (C: 16°C) temperature treatments until larvae reached the D-shaped veliger stage. Each treatment was raised in triplicate culturing containers.



Figure 2. Temperature profiles recorded by robomussels over the course of the field acclimatization, April 1, 2021 - March 30, 2022. A) Monthly averaged mean daily temperature. B) Monthly averaged maximum daily temperature. C) Monthly averaged range in daily temperature. Shaded regions represent \pm one standard deviation.



Figure 3. Cumulative exposure to heat stress in hours, record by robomussels for high and low mussels during the summer winter season. Moderate heat stress defined as temperature exposure between 23-30°C. Severe heat stress was defined as exposure above 30°C.

Α



Figure 4. The effect of zone and developmental temperature on D-stage veliger body size. Body size measured as A) hinge length (mm) and B) 2D area (mm²) for all treatments. Datapoints represent mean values with error bars representing standard error. Panels are separated by season. Developmental temperature is shown by color, W-red and C-blue. High (H) or low (L) parentage is shown on the x-axis.



Figure 5. The effect of zone and developmental temperature on larval respiration rate (pmol $O_2 h^{-1}$ individual⁻¹). Datapoints represent mean values with error bars representing standard error. Panels are separated by season. Developmental temperature is shown by color, W-red and C-blue. High (H) or low (L) parentage is shown on the x-axis.







Figure 7. Size distribution of eggs spawned by females from each adult acclimatization treatment (i.e., season-zone). Egg size was measured as A) average diameter (mm) and B) 2D area (mm²).

IV. Transgenerational plasticity as a mechanism of response to marine heatwaves in the purple sea urchin, *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*

* This study was conducted based on collaborative effort between me, Adriane McDonald, and Dr. Gretchen Hofmann, results from this study are published in Frontiers in Marine Science.

Introduction

As recent research indicates that marine heatwaves (MHWs) are expected to increase in frequency and duration in the future (Oliver et al., 2018; Guo et al., 2022; Jacox et al., 2022), understanding how these events will impact species, especially at their most temperature-sensitive stages, will provide critical insight into how MHWs might alter population and community structure. Specifically, research on the timing of MHWs relative to the timing of critical life history events is an important consideration when exploring the physiological mechanisms by which environmental thermal stress might impact organismal performance.

Transgenerational plasticity as a potential acclimation mechanism

Notably, for organisms with complex life histories, such as marine invertebrates, early developmental stages are often the most vulnerable to environmental stress, with early embryos and juveniles showing the most sensitivity across taxa (Pandori and Sorte, 2018). For many benthic marine invertebrates, there are significant knowledge gaps in three areas – how early stages will respond to the acute thermal stress from MHWs, the physiological mechanisms that confer resilience, and lastly, how the timing of MHWs in nature align with the timing of life history events. Mechanistically, the thermal tolerance of embryos and larvae can be influenced via inherent plasticity expressed during development, or alternatively via parentally-sourced mechanisms. Here, maternal provisioning of eggs and/or TGP could transduce tolerance to the embryo as a function of adult environmental history (Donelson et al., 2016). In this chapter I present the results from a laboratory experiment that mimicked MHW patterns observed at a kelp forest study site, and acclimated adult purple sea urchins (*Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*) in the laboratory at a time that coincided with gametogenesis in local natural populations. I then tested the hypothesis that adult thermal experience would influence the tolerance of progeny via TGP. To investigate maternal investment as a specific mechanism of TGP, I examined whether changes in egg provisioning would correlate to the thermal acclimation treatment of the adults.

Laboratory conditions mimicked a major 2014 – 2016 Northeastern Pacific MHW event that occurred in our region. This notable MHW event occurred from January 2014 – August 2016 (Gentemann et al., 2017), and, during this time, sea surface temperature (SST) increased an average of 1- 4°C (Cavole et al., 2016; Di Lorenzo and Mantua, 2016). This event had drastic impacts from the Gulf of Alaska to Baja California that ranged across levels of biological organization (Cavole et al., 2016; Arafeh-Dalmau et al., 2019). Regionally, in the Santa Barbara Channel (SBC) and the local kelp forests, this event has had lasting effects on the kelp forest community, altering local biodiversity (Michaud et al., 2022), interacting with disease (Reed et al., 2016), and changing the quality of kelp as food (Lowman et al., 2022). Since the this heatwave, recurrence of shorter term MHW events are continuing to be documented (Leach et al., 2021) raising concern for the health of these productive coastal ecosystems going into the future.

Timing of MHWs relative to early development of S. purpuratus

Determining how kelp forest ecosystems will be impacted by MHWs will be dependent on our understanding of organismal responses of ecologically important species. In kelp forests, S. purpuratus is a dominant herbivorous grazer capable of transforming ecosystems (Pearse, 2006; Smith and Tinker, 2022). Vulnerability to elevated temperatures can vary throughout the sea urchin life cycle, where early developmental stages are often the most sensitive to environmental stress (Byrne, 2011). While increases in environmental temperatures can have a positive effect on early stages by increasing growth and rate of development, thus reducing planktonic larval duration, if temperatures exceed upper thermal thresholds, early forms can experience an increase in abnormal development and/or mortality (Byrne, 2011). Adults are generally less susceptible than embryos to warming in sea urchin species, however heat stress associated with MHWs has shown to have lasting effects on urchin survival, immune response, and reproduction (Shanks et al., 2020; Minuti et al., 2021). From an ecological development perspective (Sultan, 2007), large parts of the purple urchin's reproductive cycle take place when MHWs occur in the SBC (Figure 1). MHWs have tended to occur in the late summer to early winter, a time period that coincides with the period of gametogenesis in purple sea urchins (Cochran and Engelmann, 1975; Strathmann, 1987) (Figure 1). In addition, S. purpuratus spawns in this region from December – February (G. Hofmann, pers. observ.). Thus, the overlap between timing of MHWs and gametogenesis in purple urchins makes this species an ideal candidate for examining mechanisms of

parental effects in response to local MHWs. From an experimental physiology perspective, this temporal alignment in nature renders parental acclimation in the laboratory during gametogenesis a way to explore whether the thermal history of adults influences the tolerance of their early-stage progeny.

Summary of the study

In this chapter, I examined TGP as a mechanism to increase physiological performance during critical developmental stages of S. purpuratus when exposed to prolonged MHW conditions. Specifically, my aim was to investigate maternal effects in a benthic marine invertebrate that routinely experiences MHWs in situ and ask whether exposure to MHW temperatures during oogenesis in female urchins induced a transgenerational response, or carry-over effect, when exposed to a simulated prolonged MHW in the laboratory. For this study, adult purple sea urchins were acclimated under two conditions – temperatures that mimicked average MHW conditions typical of the 2014-2016 MHW in the SBC (18°C), and a non-MHW average habitat temperature (13°C) during the period of gametogenesis. Following a four-month acclimation period, adults were spawned and offspring from each maternal acclimation treatment (MHW vs. non-MHW temperature) were reared reciprocally at MHW temperatures (18°C), and non-MHW temperatures (13°C). To test for evidence of TGP in this reciprocal rearing design, I assessed multiple traits throughout early development including thermal tolerance and measurements of body size. To assess the potential for maternal investment as a mechanism or TGP I measured egg traits such as egg size and biochemical composition. The results contribute to our understanding of how ecologically important species of kelp forest ecosystems respond to acute thermal stress from MHWs.

Materials and Methods

Animal collection and adult conditioning

Adult purple sea urchins, *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus* (Stimpson, 1857), were collected on SCUBA subtidally near Goleta Bay, CA, in September 2020. Urchins were collected under the California Department of Fish and Wildlife Scientific Collecting permit #SC-9228 to the Santa Barbara Coastal LTER. Following collection, urchins were held in a flow-through seawater table at ambient temperature (~16.4°C) for 24 hours before being placed in the adult acclimation treatments. During this period urchins were monitored for any disease or premature spawning and removed if needed.

To determine how maternal conditioning influenced provisioning and subsequent offspring performance, adult urchins were acclimated in either a warm (W: ~18.3°C) or cool (C: ~13.1°C) temperature condition representing MHW and non-MHW conditions, respectively. Urchins were held in the acclimation treatments from October 2020 to January 2021, which coincides with the window of gametogenesis for *S. purpuratus* populations in the SBC (Strathmann, 1987). Adult acclimation treatments consisted of three 37L replicate tanks held in a seawater table, acting as a water bath, to maintain temperature. Seawater was supplied to the treatment tanks via a dripper irrigation system with a flow rate of 12L/hr. The temperature of the seawater table was controlled using a Delta Star® heat pump with a Nema 4x digital temperature controller (AquaLogic, San Diego, CA, USA). The temperature of each tank was monitored daily using a wire thermocouple (Omega HH81a). Aquarium pumps (Aqua-Supreme) were installed in each tank to maintain proper water flow. Ten adult urchins were randomly selected and added to each treatment tank at the beginning of the acclimation period (N=60 total, 10 urchins per tank replicate for each temperature condition) (Figure 2). Each week seven fronds of kelp (*Macrocystis pyrifera*) were added to each tank and urchins fed *ab libitum*. Urchins were inspected daily, and any individuals that showed signs of disease or death were removed.

Urchin spawning and larval culturing

Following the four-month conditioning period, urchins were induced to spawn by injecting 0.53M KCl into the coelom(Strathmann, 1987). Sperm was collected "dry" via pipette, and then stored on ice in 1.5mL microcentrifuge tubes until activated. Eggs were collected by inverting females over a beaker containing UV sterilized 0.35micron filtered seawater (FSW). Sperm and egg quality were checked under a compound microscope. Females with the highest quality eggs (determined via visual inspection of size, shape, and transparency) from each adult acclimation treatment were selected for test fertilizations with potential sires. To test for gamete compatibility, a sample of eggs from each female were combined with diluted sperm from four different non-MHW males. The male with highest sperm quality and compatibility (e.g., good motility and >95% fertilization) was chosen as the sire. Eggs from five females from each acclimation treatment, with the highest quality eggs and without fertilization incompatibilities, were then pooled in two separate beakers, creating two egg pools (i.e., a pool of eggs from MHW acclimated females, and a pool from non-MHW acclimated females). Each female contributed approximately 72,000 eggs to each pool. Beakers containing pooled eggs were gently mixed while diluted, activated sperm (at

approx. 10⁵ cells per mL) from the chosen sire was added in small increments to avoid polyspermy. Since this study focused on examining maternal effects, only one sire from the non-MHW group was chosen to reduce any variation in offspring phenotype attributed to paternal genetic variation. Once pooled eggs reached 95% fertilization, embryos were deposited in larval culturing containers for the rearing phase of the experiment.

For the reciprocal culturing experiment embryos were raised at two different developmental temperatures: a MHW temperature (~18.5°C) hereafter denoted as 'W' and a non-MHW temperature (~12.7°C) hereafter denoted as 'C'. This experiment created four offspring combination treatments that are denoted as: WW, WC, CW, CC, where the first letter represents the condition for the adult, and the second letter indicates the temperature at which embryos underwent development. Each of the four groups were raised in three replicate culture containers (Figure 2). A description of culturing containers is found in the "*Larval Culturing and Sampling*" section of Chapter III. Each container contained 12L of FSW and was stocked with 122,000 embryos. Seawater temperature in each culturing container was closely monitored using a wire thermocouple.

Sampling through development

Embryo sampling was conducted at three stages during development: hatched blastula (HB), early gastrula (EG), and an early form of echinopluteus larvae, the prism stage (PR). Each stage was sampled when embryos displayed distinguishing developmental characteristics described in Strathmann (1987). Specifically, hatched blastula stage were characterized by hatching, where the embryo is no longer enclosed in the embryonic envelope; HB were sampled at 16 hours post-fertilization (hpf) for WW and CW treatments and 23hpf for WC and CC treatments. The early gastrula stage was characterized as the embryo displaying invagination at the vegetal plate and was sampled at 21hpf for WW and CW treatments and 34hpf for WC and CC treatments. The prism stage was characterized as the full formation of the tripartite archenteron, in addition to growth of the body rods, and was sampled at 44hpf for WW and CW treatments, 58hpf for WC, and 55hpf for CC treatments.

Thermal tolerance

To determine the effects and interaction of maternal acclimation and developmental temperature on the performance of the four treatments (WW, WC, CC, CW), subsets of hatched blastula embryos from each treatment were tested in an acute thermal tolerance trial. Methods for this trial were as described by Wong and Hofmann (2020) with some modification. Briefly, using a temperature gradient heat block, scintillation vials containing 3.5 mL of FSW were brought to seven temperatures (17.5, 20.5, 26.4, 24.7, 28.0, 29.8, 31.1° C). Embryos from replicate culturing containers in each treatment were pooled so that each container contributed equally to the thermal tolerance trial. For the trials, 1,000 embryos in 500mL of FSW were added to the preheated scintillation vials, and were capped to prevent evaporation. Vials containing the embryos were maintained in the heat block for 1hr, at which point additional cool FSW was added to each vial and the vials were transferred to a 14°C environmental chamber for a recovery phase. During the recovery phase, embryos were allowed to proceed through development to the prism stage, an early pre-feeding larval stage. The timing of the appearance of embryos progressing to the prism stage was assessed visually using microscopy; approximately 43 hours elapsed from the start of the recovery

period and to the beginning of the scoring process. Periodic water changes were conducted to make sure water in vials did not become hypoxic. Using approximately 100 individuals from each vial, I screened for advancement to the prism. Larvae were scored as alive if swimming or cilia movement was observed. LT50 (the temperature at which the population experiences 50% mortality) was calculated for each treatment. While previous studies have measured mortality immediately following exposure to an acute thermal stress, for this experiment mortality was measured once the embryos reached the prism stage. This allowed for a more accurate measure of survival by adding a recovery phase to the acute temperature trial.

Embryo and larval morphometric analysis

For HB and EG, 500 embryos from each culturing container were preserved in 2% formalin in FSW. In addition, 500 PR larvae from each culturing container were preserved in 2% formalin in FSW buffered with 100mM sodium perborate to a pH of 8.7, a formulation that reduces degradation of the skeletal rods. For each stage, preservation in 2% formalin was achieved by adding an equal volume of 4% formalin (in FSW or buffered FSW) to the sample volume. Preserved embryos were promptly photographed and measured using methods described in the "*Egg and larval morphometrics*" section of Chapter III. For HB and EG images, individual embryos (N=35) from each treatment replicate were oriented so the full lateral view was visible, 2D area was measured and calculated by tracing around the perimeter of the embryo. For PR images, individuals (N=35) from each treatment replicate was visible, 2D area was similarly measured by tracing around the perimeter of the embryo. At the prism stage,

skeletal rod length was also determined by measuring from the tip of the body rod to the tip of the postoral rod.

Analysis of egg traits

To assess maternal investment in females from the different acclimation treatments, I measured egg traits including egg size and biochemical composition. Eggs were preserved and measured using the same methods as described above for embryos. For imaging, 500 eggs from each contributing female (N=10) were collected promptly after spawning, and preserved in 2% formalin in FSW for morphometric analysis. Individual eggs (N=35) from each female were measured by calculating the average of three diameters and twodimensional (2D) area. For lipid quantification, 2,000 eggs were deposited in a 1.5mL cryovial. Each sample was centrifugated to concentrate eggs (approximately 30s at 16,000 RCF) (Eppendorf 5415C Centrifuge), the water layer was carefully removed, and the sample was flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until analysis. Two tubes from each contributing female were used to quantify total lipid concentration. Total lipid was extracted using methods described in Wong et al. (2019), a method based on Sewell (2005) with some modification. The concentrated eggs from each sample were suspended in 250mL of Milli-Q water and sonicated at 2amps for a total of 45s at 15s intervals (Fisher Scientific Sonic Dismembrator 500). Each homogenized sample was then transferred to a 5mL glass V-vial (Wheaton) and combined with 125mL of chloroform (HPLC grade) and 250mL of methanol (HPLC grade). Samples were shaken vigorously and then centrifuged at 2,680 RCF for 5min at 4°C (Beckman Coulter AllegraTM 21R Centrifuge). Using a pulled Pasteur pipette the aqueous and chloroform layers were transferred to a clean V-vial; chloroform and water were

then added to the final volume ratio of 4:3:2 of water:chloroform:methanol. Samples were then hand shaken and centrifuged again at 2,680 RCF for 5min at 4°C. After centrifuging, the chloroform layer was carefully transferred to a clean glass vial. All samples were flushed with N₂ and stored at -20°C prior to analysis. Total lipid was quantified spectrophotometrically using modified methods based on Marsh and Weinstein (1966). Briefly, samples were placed under a flow of N2 to allow chloroform to evaporate (Reacti-VapTM Evaporators TS-18826, Thermo ScientificTM). Once dried, 500mL of sulfuric acid (ACS grade) was added to each sample, covered with aluminum foil, and dried in a furnace at 200°C for 15min. Samples were allowed to cool for 10min prior to the addition of 2.5mL of deionized water to each vial. Samples were allowed to cool for an additional 10min and then absorbance of each sample was measured on a spectrophotometer (Shimadzu UV-1800) at 375nm. A standard curve of a known mass of lipid within a range of 30-300mg was also prepared and run in parallel with each batch of samples ($R^2 = 0.98-0.99$). The lipid profile used to generate the standard curve consisted of major lipid classes found in S. purpuratus eggs which were previously reported in Wong et al. (2019); specifically, the standard was comprised of 51% triacylglycerol (Glyceryl tripalmitate, Sigma-Aldrich, Catalog No. T5888), 38% phospholipid (L-a-Phosphatidylcholine, Sigma- Aldrich, Catalog No. P3556), and 11% sterol (Cholesterol, Sigma- Aldrich, Catalog No. C8667).

Eggs used for protein quantification were prepared using the same process as described for lipid quantification. Three tubes from each contributing female were used to quantify total protein concentration. Protein was extracted from 2,000 eggs from each females using methods described in Wong et al. (2019). Briefly, 100mL of homogenization buffer (20mM Tris-HCl, (pH 7.6); 130mM NaCl; 5mM EDTA) with 1% Triton-X and 1%

Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Catalog number P8340, Sigma-Aldrich) was added to each sample of concentrated eggs and sonicated on ice for 20s. Samples were then shaken (Thermolyne M71735 Slow Speed Roto Mix) on ice for 15min, followed by centrifugation at 16,000 RCF for 20min (Eppendorf 5415C Centrifuge). The supernatant was transferred to a 1.5mL microcentrifuge tube and stored at -20°C until analysis. Total protein content was quantified using the PierceTM BCA Protein Assay Kit following manufacturer's instructions (Catalog No. 23225, Pierce Biotechnology, Rockford, IL, USA). The standard curve was generated using bovine serum albumin ($R^2 = 0.99$).

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted in R Studio (2022.12.0 + 353). Adult survival data was generated using the Kaplan-Meier method (Rich et al., 2010) and analyzed using a log-rank test. For the thermal tolerance trial, the influence of maternal acclimation temperature and offspring developmental temperature on survivorship in response to temperature was analyzed using ageneralized linear mixed effect model (Ime4 package) (Bates et al., 2015). The binary data (alive vs. dead) were fitted using a logit link. Models were compared, and the best fit was determined using standard model reduction approach for fixed effects, their interactions, and random effects; where the Akaike information criterion (AIC) was used to determine the best fit model. Maternal and offspring temperature were set as fixed effects and vial number was set as a random effect. A Wald chi-squared test was conducted to determine the significance of each factor on survivorship. The LT50 value was calculated using a logistic regression for each treatment. The influence of maternal condition and the developmental temperature on body size at each stage (i.e., HB, EG, and PR), was

similarly analyzed using a linear mixed-effect model. Maternal and offspring temperature were set as fixed effects and individual culturing containers were set as a random effect. For egg traits, the influence of maternal acclimation on egg size (i.e., average diameter and 2D area), total lipid, and total protein content was analyzed using a linear mixed-effect model. For egg size, total lipid, and total protein content, maternal temperature condition was set as a fixed effect while each individual mother was set as a random effect.

Results

Observations following acclimation of adult urchins

Adult *S. purpuratus* were successfully acclimated in the laboratory to two experimental temperature conditions, MHW (18°C) and non-MHW (13°C) conditions, with some mortality. Throughout the four-month acclimation period, mortality was observed in both treatments with a trend of higher survival in the non-MHW treatment (90%), as compared to the MHW treatment (73%). However, the difference in survival probability between treatments was non-significant (Figure 3) (log-rank test: c2 = 2.8, df=1, p=0.10). Following the acclimation, surviving urchins from each treatment were spawned, providing ample material to create the embryo families and raise cultures. However, I observed decreased spawning success in MHW-acclimated adults as compared to non-MHWacclimated adults where 50% of surviving urchins in the MHW treatment spawned as compared to the non-MHW treatment where all adults were induced to spawn.

Thermal tolerance

This study detected a carry-over effect of maternal thermal history to the progeny. In the thermal tolerance trial, progeny from females acclimated to MHW temperatures (denoted as 'W') had a higher thermal tolerance to acute thermal stress than progeny from non-MHWacclimated females (denoted as 'C'), with higher percentages of larvae alive following the recovery period. Embryos from females acclimated to 18°C, the MHW condition, had higher LT₅₀ values than those acclimated to 13°C, the non-MHW condition (Figure 4). Across the experiment, calculated LT₅₀ ranged from 27.2 - 28.4°C. For each treatment, LT₅₀ values for WW, WC, CW, and CC were 28.2, 28.4, 27.9, 27.2°C, respectively. When comparing the influence of maternal condition, a comparison of WW vs. CW treatments suggested that embryos, when reared at higher temperatures, gained a modest increase in tolerance (+0.3°C) if mothers experienced MHW temperatures during the period of oogenesis. I also found evidence that embryo environmental conditions influenced thermal tolerance. Here, elevated developmental temperature increased thermal tolerance in progeny from females naïve to MHW exposure, where LT₅₀ of the CW family was 0.7°C higher than the CC family. A generalized linear mixed-effect model found that maternal acclimation, temperature at which offspring were raised, and their interaction all had a significant effect on embryo thermal tolerance (Table 1). These results indicated that the thermal history of the females and the developmental temperature of the embryo both influenced thermal tolerance of early-stage purple sea urchins in the thermal tolerance trial.

Embryo morphometrics

The influence of maternal acclimation and offspring developmental temperature on body size differed as a function of stage, where maternal acclimation significantly influenced embryo body size at the early gastrula and prism stage, while offspring developmental temperature had a significant influence only at the prism stage (Table 2). Difference in body size amongst treatments were most evident at the prism stage, where on average, offspring from MHW-acclimated females were 7.1% larger than those from non-MHW-acclimated females. Additionally, offspring raised at the MHW temperature were on average 14.3% larger (2D area) than those raised at the non-MHW temperature and had skeletal rod lengths that was on average 53.5% longer than those raised in the non-MHW condition (Figure 5). Results from the best fit linear mixed effect models are summarized in Table 2.

Egg morphometrics and biochemistry

In general, maternal temperature acclimation had no effect on egg size. Although eggs from non-MHW-acclimated females trended larger in size, maternal environmental history during oogenesis did not significantly influence average egg diameter ($F_{1,8} = 0.1272$, p = 0.7286) or 2D area ($F_{1,8} = 0.5882$, p = 0.4608). Average egg diameter for MHW- and non-MHW-acclimated mothers was 0.0798 ± 0.023 and 0.0801 ± 0.023 mm, respectively. The average 2D area of eggs from MHW- and non-MHW- acclimated females was 0.0051 ± 0.003 and 0.0052 ± 0.003 mm², respectively (Figures 6A, B). In contrast to morphometric traits, the biochemical composition of the eggs did vary in a comparison of females acclimated to MHW vs. non-MHW temperatures. Specifically, protein concentrations were higher in eggs from MHW-acclimated females as compared to eggs from non-MHW-
acclimated females ($F_{1,8} = 11.184$, p < 0.01). Total protein content from MHW and non-MHW acclimated mothers was 40.4 ± 3.38 and 34.6 ± 3.23 ng/egg, respectively (Figure 6C). In contrast, maternal thermal history did not have a significant effect on total lipid content of eggs ($F_{1,8} = 2.3268$, p = 0.1575), although trending differences in lipid content were observed. Total lipid content in eggs from MHW- acclimated females was on average 17.6 \pm 5.19 as compared to 14.0 ± 2.62 ng/egg in MHW- acclimated females (Figure 6D).

Discussion

The goal of this study was to investigate TGP as a mechanism of resilience to MHWrelevant thermal stress in early developmental stages of the purple sea urchin, S. purpuratus. Designing experiments parameterized by local thermal extremes, I found that parental thermal history influenced thermal tolerance of progeny, where females acclimated to MHW temperatures (18° C) during gametogenesis produced more thermally tolerant progeny as compared to their non-MHW acclimated counterparts (13°C). Findings further showed that maternal acclimation significantly influenced offspring body size at various stages in development (i.e., EG and PR), where embryos from MHW-acclimated females were larger. In exploring specific mechanisms of TGP, I hypothesized that differences in maternal provisioning could contribute to the observed differences in offspring phenotype. Here, in an assessment of egg size and the biochemical composition of eggs, I found that eggs from differentially acclimated females differed significantly in total protein content, with eggs from females maintained at higher temperatures having greater total protein. In combination, these results indicated that prolonged exposure to anomalously high environmental temperatures, as would be experienced during MHW events in nature, could influence reproductive success in situ.

In general, there are relatively few studies that have examined the effects of MHWs on gamete and offspring traits with an eye to three important elements of an ocean-climate study – here, parental effects that could drive plasticity, ecologically relevant temperatures for that species/populations under study, and species-specific phenology. In this regard, important studies on echinoderms have shown that a New Zealand species, *Evechinus* chloroticus, when acclimated to high summer temperatures decreased reproductive output (Delorme and Sewell, 2016). In this study, operating in an ecologically matched time window for oogenesis, I observed a similar trend were S. purpuratus adults acclimated to MHW conditions had lower spawning success when compared to those held at control conditions. In a study of carry-over effects in *Heliocidaris erythrogramma*, Minuti and colleagues found that MHW- acclimated females produced larger, more thermally tolerant progeny at early developmental stages (Minuti et al., 2021). Similar observations were made in this study on the temperate, kelp forest species, S. purpuratus. Further, in a study of sperm traits in S. purpuratus, male urchins acclimated to local MHW conditions (20°C) had decreased fertilization success when compared to males exposed to non-MHW conditions (15°C) (Leach et al., 2021). Our understanding of MHW effects on reproductive and offspring traits is growing with accumulating evidence noting that early stage and developmental steps are likely influenced by high temperatures typical of MHWs, especially if the thermal stress aligns with critical life history events such as gametogenesis.

Transgenerational effects on offspring thermal tolerance

The main objective of the study was to examine whether adult environmental experience in MHW conditions would influence the performance of their progeny.

Ecologically, this is significant because MHW events can occur throughout the period in which purple urchins are broadcast spawning and thus, early development could occur at anomalously high temperatures *in situ* (Figure 1). Using laboratory experiments, I queried whether adults could "prime" their progeny during periods of anomalously elevated temperatures, or whether MHW stress during gametogenesis would have deleterious effects on offspring performance. Using acute temperature trial assays used previously on early-stage echinoderms (Wong and Hofmann, 2020), I observed that maternal exposure to MHW temperatures increased thermal tolerance in progeny (Figure 4), as demonstrated by higher LT₅₀ values.

These results join other studies that examined TGP in marine invertebrates in response to thermal stress, where the offspring response varied with species, timing, and nature of parental conditioning (Putnam and Gates, 2015; Shama, 2015; Morley et al., 2017; Rivera et al., 2021; Bernal et al., 2022; Waite and Sorte, 2022). For example, in a study on the marine polychaetae, *Ophryotrocha labronica*, researchers found that the thermal tolerance of the progeny tracked the timing of the temperature exposure of the female, where tolerance of offspring differed depending on whether maternal acclimation occurred during early or late (Massamba-N'Siala et al., 2014). These results match the outcome of this experiment on *S. purpuratus*. Together, these findings underscore the significance of the timing of the warming events associated with MHWs and their subsequent effects on offspring resilience. Since the nature of MHWs can vary from prolonged to short-term events (Hobday et al., 2016), transgenerational responses may differ depending on duration of maternal exposure.

Transgenerational effects on embryo and larval body size

In addition to measuring upper thermal tolerance as a metric of offspring performance, I examined body size, an important functional trait of echinoderms in larval ecology and physiology (Strathmann, 1971; Allen and Marshall, 2014) that has shown to correlate to performance in studies of local adaptation and plasticity in *S. purpuratus* (Kelly et al., 2013; Strader et al., 2022). In this study using MHW-relevant temperatures, I found that maternal thermal history significantly influenced body size (measured as 2D area) for early gastrula embryos and prism larvae (Figure 5), where offspring from MHW-acclimated females were larger in size, potentially indicating a positive transgenerational effect, since larger size in larvae is often associated with higher fitness (Strathmann, 1971; Allen and McAlister, 2007). Offspring developmental temperature also influenced body size for prismstage larvae, which was evident in the observed differences in skeletal rod length. An interaction between maternal thermal history and developmental temperature was seen only at the early gastrula stage, where differences in body size within each developmental treatment were dependent on the maternal experience.

Other studies examining transgenerational effects in response to elevated temperature conditions in echinoderms have reported mixed effects on larval size. For example, studies on *Strongylocentrotus intermedius* and *Tripneustes gratilla*, show that adults exposed to long-term elevated temperatures, 15 months and 6 months respectively, produced progeny that were smaller in size compared to progeny from adults conditioned to ambient temperatures (Zhao et al., 2018; Karelitz et al., 2019). In addition, adult long-term acclimation to +2°C temperature conditions did not affect body size of the progeny in *Heliocidaris erythrogamma* (Harianto et al., 2021). Overall, measurement of body size at

different stages in development may contribute to the differences seen amongst studies. Furthermore, length of adult exposure, differences in species plasticity, and population-level responses likely contribute to reported differences in transgenerational responses.

Maternal provisioning as a general mechanism of TGP

Mechanistically, maternal contributions to shifts in tolerance of the progeny could manifest in two ways - 1) as maternal energetic investment in the eggs, and/or 2) as maternally-derived egg transcripts and proteins working to reduce cellular damage due to heat stress during early development. Historically maternal energetic investment has been assessed through measurements of egg size and biochemical composition (i.e., lipids and proteins) where studies have shown that egg size and nutritional macromolecules are significant in determining conditions and performance of developing progeny in echinoderms (Jaeckle, 1995; Prowse et al., 2008; Moran et al., 2013; Peters-Didier and Sewell, 2017). Given these data on echinoderm eggs, I hypothesized that observed differences in offspring phenotype would be due to differences in maternal energetic provisioning (i.e., egg size and biochemical composition). In testing this hypothesis, I found that acclimation of females to MHW temperatures during oogenesis resulted in significantly altered egg characteristics. Specifically, although egg size was unaffected by maternal acclimation, eggs from MHWacclimated females had

higher protein content and had total lipid content that trended upward (Figure 6).

For marine invertebrates, egg size is often used a standard measurement of maternal investment as it has been linked to numerous adaptive traits in developing embryos and larvae such as fertilization success, larval development, and post- metamorphosis survival (Moran and McAlister, 2009; Allen and Marshall, 2014). While differences in egg size were not observed in this study, past research examining the effects of maternal acclimation temperature on egg size report varying outcomes (Foo and Byrne, 2017). In combination, data in the literature suggest that species and the duration of thermal exposure are likely significant determinants of egg size (Skadsheim, 1989; Suckling et al., 2015; Guillaume et al., 2016; Karelitz et al., 2019). However, when examining provisioning of eggs, focusing solely on size may not be the best predictor of energetic content. In echinoid species specifically, while egg size generally scales with energy content, at the intraspecific level this relationship is weakened (McEdward and Morgan, 2001; Moran and McAlister, 2009).

In this light, to further assess differences in egg quality, I measured total protein and lipid concentrations. Protein concentrations were significantly higher in eggs from females with the history of high temperature conditioning (Figure 6C). In addition, although there was a trend indicating higher lipid levels as well, there was not a significant difference between eggs of MHW- and non-MHW-acclimated females. In general, the levels of protein and lipid measured here are consistent with other measurements in *S. purpuratus* (Matson et al., 2012; Wong et al., 2019). Studies examining how these macromolecules are used throughout development show that lipids (specifically triglycerides) are major energy fuels, while structural lipids (e.g., phospholipids) and proteins are used to construct the larval body (Byrne et al., 2008). These patterns of biochemical utilization support the results of this study where larger larvae developed from more protein rich eggs (i.e., eggs from MHW-acclimated females).

While not evaluated in this study, differences in egg protein characteristics may potentially influence thermal tolerance of early-stage embryos via maternal transmission of heat shock proteins. In support of this hypothesis, a study examining gonad tissue of acclimated adult urchins (20 vs 26°C) found higher levels of Hsp70 protein in the warm-acclimated urchin (Harianto et al., 2021). While measurements of gonad tissue do not identify standing stocks of defensome proteins in spawned eggs, this study does highlight the potential for maternal acclimation via changes in egg protein characteristics to alter tolerance of developing embryos. In addition to proteins, maternally sourced transcripts may also contribute to differences in thermal tolerance at early embryonic stages. Together these inherited molecules are necessary for driving early developmental processes, and it is not until the maternal-to- zygotic transition that embryos are able to activate their own genome (Hamdoun and Epel, 2007; Schier, 2007). With this in mind, I chose to study hatched blastula embryos, specifically, as studies have shown that these early-stage embryos still rely on maternal transcripts and are unable to completely activate elements of the embryonic defensome, e.g., genes for molecular chaperones and heat-shock proteins (Sconzo et al., 1995).

To further highlight physiological mechanisms that contribute to TGP, transcriptomic studies on urchins have shown that parental acclimation to different temperatures influence gene expression in offspring during early development (Shi et al., 2020). Similar results have been observed in *S. purpuratus* under variable conditions of temperature and pCO2 (Wong et al., 2018). While transcriptomic techniques have aided our ability to determine the molecular underpinning of TGP, to shed light on maternal provisioning mechanisms, future studies should incorporate long-term acclimation during gametogenic windows followed by examination of maternally sourced RNA and proteins in eggs and early embryos. Assessment of the temperature-related egg changes in a climate-change context could be further

investigated by examining the translatome, an approach that has been used in other echinoderms (Chassé et al., 2018).

Effects of developmental temperature on offspring phenotype

In addition to addressing transgenerational processes, the factorial design of the experiment allowed me to examine how the temperature at which embryos developed influenced their phenotypic and functional traits (i.e., body size and thermal tolerance). I found that progeny from non-MHW acclimated females reared in non-MHW conditions had the lowest LT₅₀ value. However, thermal tolerance of these progeny increased when reared at the higher MHW temperature (Figure 4). This outcome has been observed in other echinoderm species. In a study on red urchins (*Mesocentrotus franciscanus*), embryos reared at 17°C had an increased thermal tolerance as compared to embryos reared at 13°C (Wong and Hofmann, 2020), indicating that if rearing temperatures do not exceed upper thermal limits there is a potential for a resistance response in early-stage embryos. In this study, developmental temperature also had a significant effect on body size at the latest stage evaluated (i.e., PR), where development in MHW conditions was positively associated with body size and body rod length (Figure 5).

Conclusions

This study provides evidence that TGP may contribute to the capacity to resist the thermal stress associated with MHWs in a benthic marine invertebrate. Findings from the thermal tolerance trials showed that offspring with a history of MHW exposure, whether it be via maternal history or during development, had higher LT₅₀ values than those that were

naïve to MHW conditions, suggesting that both trans- and intragenerational acclimation were acting to increase tolerance to heat stress. These results suggest that prior exposure to elevated temperature can increase tolerance of early-stage *S. purpuratus*. Since early life history stages are often considered to be the most sensitive to abiotic stressors (Pandori and Sorte, 2018), and are currently being affected by MHWs (Rogers et al., 2021), maternal effects such as those observed in this study may act to ameliorate negative impacts of MHWs.

It is important to note that there are limitations to the interpretation of the results of this laboratory experiment. Specifically, it is unclear how long this resistance will last, either in the lifetime of individuals, or across subsequent generations. While carry-over effects may increase tolerance to thermal stress in a single generation, past TGP studies have shown that acquired tolerances may not persist within or across generations (Byrne et al., 2020). Additionally, due to the variable nature of MHW events it is important to consider the possibility of environmental mismatches between parents and offspring and how this may influence inherited traits (Baker et al., 2019).

From a global change perspective, MHWs are predicted to become a dominant force in many of the world's oceans (Oliver et al., 2021; Smith et al., 2023) and a greater understanding of how ecologically and economically important species respond to the thermal stress associated with MHWs will be critical in predicting the vulnerability of key fisheries (Smith et al., 2023) and on how biodiversity and ecosystem health might be altered in warming coastal oceans (Smale et al., 2019; Michaud et al., 2022). Overall, TGP studies will provide critical insight into mechanisms of acclimation in response to these thermally

stressful events that function at ecological timescales, providing time for adaptation to catch up.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my collaborators Dr. Gretchen Hofmann and Adriane McDonald. I am thankful for Christoph Pierre for assistance with urchin and kelp collection. I am grateful for Dr. Sam Bogan and Erin de Leon Sanchez, who assisted in the urchin spawning, larval culturing, and live larval assessments. Finally, I thank Drs. Erika Eliason and Nick Nidzieko for feedback provided. During the course of this experiment, I was supported by an NSF Graduate Research Fellowship. This research was supported by an award from the U.S. National Science Foundation (NSF) (NSF award 2131283 to GH). Collection of temperature data was supported by an NSF award to the SBC LTER (OCE-1831937) for which GH is a co- PI (Director: Dr. Robert Miller).

Figures & Tables

Table 1: A Wald chi-squared test was used to determine the significance of each factor:temperature of acute exposure, maternal acclimation temperature, and offspring developmentaltemperature; and their interaction on survivorship.

	χ^2	df	р
Temperature	206.264	1	<0.001
Temperature x Maternal acclimation	20.412	1	<0.001
Temperature x Developmental temperature	57.337	1	<0.001
Temperature x Maternal acclimation x	38.351	1	<0.001
Developmental Temperature			

Bold values indicate factors which had a significant effect.

Table 2: Type III Analysis of Variance Table with Satterthwaite's method for the linear mixed effect models showing the effect of maternal acclimation and offspring developmental temperature on body size (i.e., area and skeletal rod length) of early developmental stages of *S. purpuratus*.

		MS	NumDF	DenDF	F	р
Hatched Blastula						
Area						
	Maternal acclimation	6.12e-07	1	12	3.963	0.07
	Developmental temperature	3.94e-07	1	12	2.552	0.136
	Maternal acclimation x developmental temperature	6.05e-07	1	12	3.918	0.071
Early Gastrula						
Area						
	Maternal acclimation	2.41e-05	1	12	65.612	3.31e-06
	Developmental temperature	8.24e-07	1	12	2.242	0.16
	Maternal acclimation x developmental temperature	1.00e-05	1	12	27.265	2.14e-4
Prism						
Area						
	Maternal acclimation	5.28e-06	1	12	8.335	0.014
	Developmental temperature	4.46e-05	1	12	70.403	2.95e-06
Rod length						
	Maternal acclimation	1.64e-04	1	12	0.619	0.447
	Developmental temperature	0.052	1	12	197.586	8.08e-09

Bold values indicate factors which had a significant effect.



Figure 1. Mean daily temperature experienced by adult purple sea urchins during the 2014-2015 MHW. Temperature data were collected on the benthos using ONSET HOBO temperature loggers by the Santa Barbara Coastal LTER. The red and purple lines represent 2014 and 2015, respectively; the grey line represents the climatological mean (2001-2021). The occurrence of a MHW event, identified using metrics established by Hobday et al. (2018), is indicated by a dashed line for both 2014 (red) and 2015 (purple). Timing of life history events for S. purpuratus are represented by colored bars: gametogenesis (blue), spawning (green), and planktonic larval duration (yellow) (Rogers-Bennett, 2013; Okamoto et al., 2020).



Figure 2. Experimental design. Adult *S. purpuratus* (N=60) were acclimated in either a MHW (W: 18°C) or a non-MHW (C: 13°C) condition, for a four-month period, during gametogenesis. Eggs from each maternal treatment were pooled (N=5 females per treatment) and fertilized using sperm from a single non-MHW- acclimated male. Embryos from each cross were reared at either a MHW or non-MHW temperature, resulting in four groups: WW, WC, CW, and CC. Each group was raised in three replicate culture vessels.



Figure 3. Survivorship in *S. purpuratus* adults over 4 months of acclimation at marine heatwave (18°C) and non-marine heatwave (13°C) temperatures. Adult urchins were acclimated to either a MHW temperature of 18°C or non-MHW temperature of 13°C for a four-month period from October to January. The red and blue lines represent survival probability for MHW or non-MHW condition, respectively.



Figure 4. Survivorship of early-stage *S. purpuratus* from the four treatments. Hatched blastula from each of the four treatments were exposed to a 1hr acute temperature trial and then allowed to recover at 14°C. Following recovery and development to prism the proportion of live prism larvae were scored. Colored lines represent a logistic regression for each treatment. LT_{50} is shown at the intersection of the dashed grey line with the color-coded line for each group with different parentage and different developmental temperature.



Figure 5. Morphometric analysis of embryo and prism stage *S. purpuratus*. Body size of embryos and larvae at three developmental stages: hatched blastula (HB), early gastrula (EG), and prism (PR), for each family combination (WW, WC, CW, & CC). Only results with significant *p*-values are displayed on each graph.



Figure 6. Egg morphometrics and assessment of biochemical storage biomolecules. A) Diameter and B) 2D area of eggs from females acclimated to MHW (W) and non-MHW (C) conditions. C) Total protein (ng/egg) and D) total lipid content (ng/egg) of eggs from females acclimated to MHW (W) and non-MHW (C) conditions. Only results with significant p-values are displayed on each graph.

V. Conclusion

Climactic extremes such as marine heatwaves are becoming a dominant force in the world's oceans, while average seawater temperatures also continue to increase (Oliver et al., 2018). This rapid pace of global change is posing a challenge to species, as organisms are pushed to or past their physiological limits (Smith et al., 2023). To predict how these stressors will impact species and ecosystems, knowledge of thermal limits and the capacity to adjust these limits via acclimation is critical. This is especially true for species living near their thermal limits or species that vary in sensitivity to thermal stress across their life history (Sinclair et al., 2016). In this dissertation I examined how changes in ocean temperature are impacting two ecologically important species in coastal waters of the Northeast Pacific, the California mussel (*Mytilus californianus*) and the purple sea urchin (*Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*). Specifically, I examined how heatwaves alter their thermal experience and their potential to cope with this thermal stress via transgenerational and intragenerational (developmental) plasticity. From this general body of research, three main takeaways are highlighted and discussed below.

1. Long-term monitoring of environmental parameters provides key biological insights

Each chapter presented in this dissertation relied on long-term temperature data. This was made possible through efforts of long-term monitoring programs such as the Partnership for Interdisciplinary Studies in Costal Ocean (PISCO), the Multi-Agency Rocky Intertidal Network (MARINe), and the Santa Barbara Coastal Long Term Ecological (SBC LTER) Research Program.

In Chapter II, I examined patterns of *M. californianus* body temperature across latitude using biomimetic temperature loggers, robomussels. While traditional temperature sensors provide useful environmental data, for ectotherms that experience large variations in temperature in short timeframes, these bio mimics provide key insight into organism physiology (Fitzhenry et al., 2004; Helmuth et al., 2016). This early realization motivated scientists to maintain this dataset for *Mytilus* species, as thermal events that influence mussel populations could drastically alter intertidal biodiversity (Miner et al., 2021). Using this data, I was able to discern annual temperature patterns experienced by mussels across their biogeographic range in Oregon and California. Dependent on the site, annual patterns were compiled using 5–17 years worth of data which increased confidence in the observed trends. Moreover, this long-term data allowed me to assess how body temperatures were impacted by anomalous events such as the 2014-2016 Northeastern Pacific MHW. Here, I found that during MHW years, previously determined annual patterns were disrupted and certain populations may have been pushed past optimal thermal performance windows (Coe and Fox, 1942). The work presented in Chapter III of this dissertation also relied on this longterm dataset from the biomimetic robomussels. Here, temperature data collected at the microhabitat scale provided information on thermal histories of adult *M. californianus* that may have contributed to TGP. Lastly, in Chapter IV subtidal benthic temperature data collected by the SBC LTER was used to inform temperature conditions used in the laboratory experiments on S. purpuratus.

While long term research programs are often costly and difficult to maintain, they are of critical importance for understanding how the environment is changing over time. This data allows scientists to identify trends and patterns over extended periods. Moreover, since

the marine environment is inherently variable, long-term data allows researchers to distinguish between natural variation and sustained trends. A common approach for examining changes in ocean temperatures has relied on temperature data collected using satellites (Hobday et al., 2016). This data is also critical as it can help discern global patterns by providing more complete spatio-temporal sampling (Merchant et al., 2019). However, it is not representative of temperature profiles at the benthos. Data collected *in situ* by the previously mentioned monitoring programs has allowed for an accurate examination of changes in temperature experienced by benthic marine invertebrates in intertidal and subtidal ecosystems.

Moreover, environmental data paired with biological monitoring has allowed scientists to examine climate change impacts on ecosystem structure and identify ecosystems that may be more or less resilient (Miner et al., 2021; Ziegler et al., 2023). While efforts have been made to measure many biological indices such as organism growth, abundance, and diversity, long-term measurements that target other life history stages can provide a more comprehensive understanding of how organisms are being impacted (Miner et al., 2021; Michaud et al., 2022). For example, using recruitment data, Okamoto and colleagues were able to show how *S. purpuratus* recruitment is differentially impacted by warming across latitude (Okamoto et al., 2020). To support this, long-term measurements of adult gonadal index can provide further insight into identifying how warming is impacting *S. purpuratus* populations.

2. Transgenerational and intragenerational plasticity varies with acclimation state and offspring developmental stage

Transgenerational plasticity, which refers to modification of offspring phenotype induced by signals experienced by parents, is well documented in marine taxa (Donelson et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2020; Truong et al., 2022). In general, TGP has been studied extensively in marine invertebrates with mixed results depending on taxa and the context of the environmental factor in question (Byrne et al., 2020). At present, TGP studies in wild populations or in a MHW context are few, but emerging data is providing important insight into how thermal stress interacts with the phenology of life history events (Gall et al., 2021; Minuti et al., 2021; Waite and Sorte, 2022).

In Chapter III I found evidence of transgenerational effects with regard to seasonal acclimatization in wild populations of *M. californianus*. Larvae from winter acclimatized mussels exhibited traits related to higher performance (i.e., larvae were larger, had lower metabolic rates, and higher thermal tolerance), than those from summer acclimatized parents. My initial hypothesis was that temperature would be the driving force of any observed transgenerational effects, but the lack of difference seen between high and low zone mussels challenged this idea. Thus, I predict that differences seen across season may be attributed to other factors that also vary across season, such as access to food or exposure to upwelling conditions. Further, in Chapter IV I documented positive transgenerational effects of temperature in *S. purpuratus*. Adults acclimated to warm temperature conditions produced larger more thermally tolerant larvae. In combination both studies provide evidence of TGP in both laboratory and wild populations.

Evidence of developmental plasticity was observed for both M. californianus (Chapter III) and S. purpuratus (Chapter IV). In Chapter III, developmental temperature influenced body size, metabolic rate, and thermal tolerance. Larvae reared in the warm developmental treatment (20°C) were larger, had higher respiration rate, and lower thermal tolerance than those reared in the cool developmental treatment (16° C). In Chapter IV, however, embryos had higher thermal tolerance when reared at the warm developmental temperature (18°C) when compared to the cool developmental temperature (13°C). I theorize thermal responses differed due to differences in developmental rearing temperatures and the stage at which offspring were assessed. For both studies, developmental rearing temperatures were selected based on temperatures developing embryos experience in the water column. For S. purpuratus, spawning occurs from December-February (G. Hofmann, pers. comm.), so larvae will likely experience cooler temperatures than M. californianus which spawn yearround (Coe and Fox, 1942). Higher developmental temperatures used for *M. californianus* may have exceeded optimal performance windows, thus exhibiting an energetic tradeoff between growth and thermal tolerance.

Moreover, the stage at which offspring were exposed to the acute thermal tolerance may have also contributed to these differences. In both studies, offspring were unfed prior to all assays as I was interested in assessing how initial maternal investment influenced physiological performance during early development. *M. californianus* were exposed at an early larval stage (D-stage veliger), while *S. purpuratus* were exposed at an early embryonic stage (hatched blastula). Thus, depletion of energy stores may have been greater for *M. californianus* larvae than *S. purpuratus* embryos at the time of the thermal tolerance trial. While both transgenerational and developmental plasticity were observed in this study, it is important to note that there are limitations to the interpretations of these results. It is unclear how long this documented resistance will last, either in the lifetime of individuals, or across subsequent generations. While carry-over effects may increase tolerance to thermal stress in a single generation, past TGP studies have shown that acquired tolerances may not persist within or across generations (Byrne et al., 2020). This can also be said for changes in thermal tolerance due to developmental plasticity (Pottier et al., 2022).

3. Nutritional availability will play a critical role in organismal response to warming environments

For ectotherms, body temperature and thus metabolic processes are dictated by the surrounding temperature. Increased metabolic rate due to elevated temperatures can lead to decreased organismal performance if energetic demands are not met (Brown et al., 2004). In Chapter II of this dissertation, I examined the effects of MHWs on adult *M. californianus* body temperature. I found that for the southernmost population, Coal Oil Point, temperature exposure during the MHWs often exceeded reported thermal thresholds for optimal performance in adults (Coe and Fox, 1942). Here, I hypothesized that this exposure may have contributed to the decreased abundance in mussel cover in southern populations (Miner et al., 2021). In terms of nutritional availability, studies have reported changes in phytoplankton abundance and composition during MHW events which may have further contributed to changes in performance for filter feeders (Michaud et al., 2022; Arteaga and Rousseaux, 2023). Further, changes in macroalgae have the potential to impact adult performance of *S. purpuratus*. Following the four-month lab acclimation described in Chapter IV, I observed

increased mortality and lower spawning rates in adults acclimated to warm temperature conditions. Both the MHW and the non-MHW-acclimated adults were fed the same quantity of kelp, however it is possible that this amount was not enough to meet the energetic demands of urchins in the MHW treatment.

Energy limitations will not only impact the adult stages, but larval stages as well. In Chapter III, I observed that *M. californianus* larvae reared in warm temperature conditions were larger, likely due to the increased metabolic rate increasing the rate of growth. However, this came at the cost of thermal tolerance. Faster growth rates and larger sizes are often seen to increase fitness of larvae by reducing planktonic larval duration and predation rates (Strathmann, 1971; Allen and McAlister, 2007). Thus, exposure to elevated temperatures may not decrease fitness if energetic demands are met via access to food.

MHW events have been linked with changes phytoplankton and macroalgae (Michaud et al., 2022; Arteaga and Rousseaux, 2023). These primary producers are a critical food source for benthic invertebrates, and thus increases in temperature and decreases nutritional availability can have compounding effects on key consumers (Michaud et al., 2022). Apart from changes in abundance, change in nutritional compositions in algal communities can extend up the food chain. For example, Lowman and colleagues have reported lower nutritional quality of kelp exposed to high temperatures (Lowman et al., 2022), which may subsequently impact urchin growth and reproduction (McBride et al., 2004). Thus, information on how MHWs will continue to alter marine primary producers will aid in our understanding of ecosystem response.

Future Directions

MHW have far-reaching impacts from organismal physiology to changes in ecosystem structure (Smith et al., 2023). Future research that incorporates the spatiotemporal patterns of heatwaves at the local level and further that matches these events to the phenology of critical life history events will improve our ability to forecast impacts of heatwaves on coastal marine ecosystems. Variation in thermal patterns are likely to have significantly different impacts on important life history events depending on the species and life history strategies in question, this perspective that has been noted in the ocean global change biology (Bautista and Crespel, 2021). Lastly, food quality and availability during MHW conditions will also influence adult and larval condition *in situ*.

References

- Allen, J.D., and McAlister, J.S. (2007). Testing rates of planktonic versus benthic predation in the field. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 347(1), 77-87. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2007.03.010.
- Allen, R.M., and Marshall, D.J. (2014). Egg size effects across multiple life-history stages in the marine annelid *Hydroides diramphus*. *PLOS ONE* 9(7), e102253. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0102253.
- Arafeh-Dalmau, N., Montaño-Moctezuma, G., Martínez, J.A., Beas-Luna, R., Schoeman, D.S., and Torres-Moye, G. (2019). Extreme marine heatwaves alter kelp forest community near its equatorward distribution limit. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 6. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2019.00499.
- Arteaga, L.A., and Rousseaux, C.S. (2023). Impact of Pacific Ocean heatwaves on phytoplankton community composition. *Communications Biology* 6(1), 263. doi: 10.1038/s42003-023-04645-0.
- Baker, B.H., Sultan, S.E., Lopez-Ichikawa, M., and Waterman, R. (2019). Transgenerational effects of parental light environment on progeny competitive performance and lifetime fitness. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 374(1768), 20180182. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0182.
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., and Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software* 67(1), 1 - 48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01.

- Bautista, N.M., and Crespel, A. (2021). Within- and trans-generational environmental adaptation to climate change: perspectives and new challenges. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 8. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2021.729194.
- Bayne, B.L., Bayne, C.J., Carefoot, T.C., and Thompson, R.J. (1976). The physiological ecology of *Mytilus californianus* Conrad. 1. Metabolism and energy balance. *Oecologia* 22(3), 211-228.
- Bernal, M.A., Ravasi, T., Rodgers, G.G., Munday, P.L., and Donelson, J.M. (2022).
 Plasticity to ocean warming is influenced by transgenerational, reproductive, and developmental exposure in a coral reef fish. *Evolutionary Applications* 15(2), 249-261. doi: 10.1111/eva.13337.
- Blanchette, C.A., Helmuth, B., and Gaines, S.D. (2007). Spatial patterns of growth in the mussel, *Mytilus californianus*, across a major oceanographic and biogeographic boundary at Point Conception, California, USA. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 340(2), 126-148. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2006.09.022.
- Broitman, B.R., Blanchette, C.A., Menge, B.A., Lubchenco, J., Krenz, C., Foley, M., et al. (2008). Spatial and temporal patterns of invertebrate recruitment along the west coast of the United States. *Ecological Monographs* 78(3), 403-421. doi: 10.1890/06-1805.1.
- Brown, J.H., Gillooly, J.F., Allen, A.P., Savage, V.M., and West, G.B. (2004). Toward a metabolic theory of ecology. *Ecology* 85(7), 1771-1789. doi: 10.1890/03-9000.
- Byrne, M. (2011). "Impact of ocean warming and ocean acidification on marine invertebrate life history stages: Vulnerabilities and potential for persistence in a changing ocean,"

in *Oceanography and Marine Biology: An annual review*, eds. R.N. Gibson, R.J.A. Atkinson & J.D.M. Gordon. (Boca Raton: CRC Press), 1-42.

- Byrne, M., Foo, S.A., Ross, P.M., and Putnam, H.M. (2020). Limitations of cross- and multigenerational plasticity for marine invertebrates faced with global climate change. *Global Change Biology* 26(1), 80-102. doi: 10.1111/gcb.14882.
- Byrne, M., Prowse, T.A.A., Sewell, M.A., Dworjanyn, S., Williamson, J.E., and Vaïtilingon,
 D. (2008). Maternal provisioning for larvae and larval provisioning for juveniles in
 the toxopneustid sea urchin *Tripneustes gratilla*. *Marine Biology* 155(5), 473-482.
 doi: 10.1007/s00227-008-1045-5.
- Cavole, L.M., Demko, A.M., Diner, R.E., Giddings, A., Koester, I., Pagniello, C.M.L.S., et al. (2016). Biological impacts of the 2013–2015 warm-water anomaly in the northeast Pacific winners, losers, and the future. *Oceanography* 29(2), 273-285.
- Chamorro, J.D., McDonald, A.M., and Hofmann, G.E. (2023). Transgenerational plasticity as a mechanism of response to marine heatwaves in the purple sea urchin, *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 10. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2023.1212781.
- Chassé, H., Aubert, J., Boulben, S., Le Corguillé, G., Corre, E., Cormier, P., et al. (2018). Translatome analysis at the egg-to-embryo transition in sea urchin. *Nucleic Acids Research* 46(9), 4607-4621. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky258.
- Clarke, A. (2017). *Principles of Thermal Ecology: Temperature, Energy, and Life*. Oxford University Press.

- Cochran, R.C., and Engelmann, F. (1975). Environmental regulation of the annual reproductive season of *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus* (Stimpson). *The Biological Bulleton* 148(3), 393-401. doi: 10.2307/1540516.
- Coe, W.R., and Fox, D.L. (1942). Biology of the California sea-mussel (*Mytilus Californianus*). I. Influence of temperature, food supply, sex and age on the rate of growth. *Journal of Experimental Zoology* 90(1), 1-30. doi: 10.1002/jez.1400900102.
- Delorme, N.J., and Sewell, M.A. (2016). Effects of warm acclimation on physiology and gonad development in the sea urchin *Evechinus chloroticus*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology* 198, 33-40. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.03.020.
- Denny, M.W., Dowd, W.W., Bilir, L., and Mach, K.J. (2011). Spreading the risk: small-scale body temperature variation among intertidal organisms and its implications for species persistence. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 400(1), 175-190. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2011.02.006.
- Di Lorenzo, E., and Mantua, N. (2016). Multi-year persistence of the 2014/15 North Pacific marine heatwave. *Nature Climate Change* 6(11), 1042-1047. doi: 10.1038/nclimate3082.
- Donelson, J.M., Sunday, J.M., Figueira, W.F., Gaitán-Espitia, J.D., Hobday, A.J., Johnson, C.R., et al. (2019). Understanding interactions between plasticity, adaptation and range shifts in response to marine environmental change. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 374(1768), 20180186. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0186.

- Donelson, J.M., Wong, M., Booth, D.J., and Munday, P.L. (2016). Transgenerational plasticity of reproduction depends on rate of warming across generations. *Evolutionary Applications* 9(9), 1072-1081. doi: 10.1111/eva.12386.
- Fitzhenry, T., Halpin, P., and Helmuth, B. (2004). Testing the effects of wave exposure, site, and behavior on intertidal mussel boy temperatures: Applications and limits of temperature logger design. *Marine Biology* 145, 339-349. doi: 10.1007/s00227-004-1318-6.
- Foo, S.A., and Byrne, M. (2017). Marine gametes in a changing ocean: Impacts of climate change stressors on fecundity and the egg. *Marine Environmental Research* 128, 12-24. doi: 10.1016/j.marenvres.2017.02.004.
- Free, C.M., Anderson, S.C., Hellmers, E.A., Muhling, B.A., Navarro, M.O., Richerson, K., et al. (2023). Impact of the 2014–2016 marine heatwave on US and Canada west coast fisheries: surprises and lessons from key case studies. *Fish and Fisheries* 24(4), 652-674. doi: 10.1111/faf.12753.
- Gall, M.L., Holmes, S.P., Campbell, H., and Byrne, M. (2021). Effects of marine heatwave conditions across the metamorphic transition to the juvenile sea urchin (*Heliocidaris erythrogramma*). *Marine Pollution Bulleton* 163, 111914. doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111914.
- Gentemann, C.L., Fewings, M.R., and García-Reyes, M. (2017). Satellite sea surface temperatures along the west coast of the United States during the 2014–2016 northeast Pacific marine heat wave. *Geophysical Research Letters* 44(1), 312-319. doi: 10.1002/2016GL071039.

- Gleason, L.U., Strand, E.L., Hizon, B.J., and Dowd, W.W. (2018). Plasticity of thermal tolerance and its relationship with growth rate in juvenile mussels (*Mytilus californianus*). *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 285(1877). doi: 10.1098/rspb.2017.2617.
- Gosselin, L.A. (2004). Localized synchronous spawning of *Mytilus californianus* conrad in Barkley Sound, British Columbia, Canada. *Journal of Shellfish Research* 23, 529+.
- Guillaume, A.S., Monro, K., and Marshall, D.J. (2016). Transgenerational plasticity and environmental stress: do paternal effects act as a conduit or a buffer? *Functional Ecology* 30(7), 1175-1184. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12604.
- Guo, X., Gao, Y., Zhang, S., Wu, L., Chang, P., Cai, W., et al. (2022). Threat by marine heatwaves to adaptive large marine ecosystems in an eddy-resolving model. *Nature Climate Change* 12(2), 179-186. doi: 10.1038/s41558-021-01266-5.
- Hamdoun, A., and Epel, D. (2007). Embryo stability and vulnerability in an always changing world. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104(6), 1745-1750. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0610108104.
- Harianto, J., Aldridge, J., Torres Gabarda, S.A., Grainger, R.J., and Byrne, M. (2021).
 Impacts of acclimation in warm-low pH conditions on the physiology of the sea urchin *Heliocidaris erythrogramma* and carryover effects for juvenile offspring. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 7. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2020.588938.
- Harley, C. (2008). Tidal dynamics, topographic orientation, and temperature-mediated mass mortalities on rocky shores. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 371, 37-46. doi: 10.3354/meps07711.

- Helmuth, B., Broitman, B.R., Blanchette, C.A., Gilman, S., Halpin, P., Harley, C.D.G., et al. (2006). Mosaic patterns of thermal stress in the rocky intertidal zone: Implications for climate change. *Ecological Monographs* 76(4), 461-479. doi: 10.1890/0012-9615(2006)076[0461:MPOTSI]2.0.CO;2.
- Helmuth, B., Choi, F., Matzelle, A., Torossian, J.L., Morello, S.L., Mislan, K.A.S., et al. (2016). Long-term, high frequency in situ measurements of intertidal mussel bed temperatures using biomimetic sensors. *Scientific Data* 3(1), 160087. doi: 10.1038/sdata.2016.87.
- Helmuth, B., Harley, C.D.G., Halpin, P.M., O'Donnell, M., Hofmann, G.E., and Blanchette,
 C.A. (2002). Climate change and latitudinal patterns of intertidal thermal stress. *Science* 298(5595), 1015-1017. doi: 10.1126/science.1076814.
- Helmuth, B., and Hofmann, G. (2002). Microhabitats, Thermal Heterogeneity, and Patterns of Physiological Stress in the Rocky Intertidal Zone. *The Biological Bulletin* 201, 374-384. doi: 10.2307/1543615.
- Hesketh, A.V., and Harley, C.D.G. (2023). Extreme heatwave drives topography-dependent patterns of mortality in a bed-forming intertidal barnacle, with implications for associated community structure. *Global Change Biology* 29(1), 165-178. doi: 10.1111/gcb.16390.
- Hobday, A.J., Alexander, L.V., Perkins, S.E., Smale, D.A., Straub, S.C., Oliver, E.C.J., et al. (2016). A hierarchical approach to defining marine heatwaves. *Progress in Oceanography* 141, 227-238. doi: 10.1016/j.pocean.2015.12.014.

- Hobday, A.J., Oliver, E.C.J., Sen Gupta, A., Benthuysen, J.A., Burrows, M.T., Donat, M.G., et al. (2018). Categorizing and naming marine heatwaves. *Oceanography* 31(2), 162-173. doi: 10.5670/oceanog.2018.205.
- Hofmann, G.E., and Todgham, A.E. (2010). Living in the now: physiological mechanisms to tolerate a rapidly changing environment. *Annual Review of Physiology* 72(1), 127-145. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-021909-135900.

Hoshijima, U., and Hofmann, G.E. (2019). Variability of seawater chemistry in a kelp forest environment is linked to *in situ* transgenerational effects in the purple sea urchin, *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus. Frontiers in Marine Science* 6. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2019.00062.

- Howells, E.J., Beltran, V.H., Larsen, N.W., Bay, L.K., Willis, B.L., and van Oppen, M.J.H.
 (2012). Coral thermal tolerance shaped by local adaptation of photosymbionts. *Nature Climate Change* 2(2), 116-120. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1330.
- Hughes, T.P., Kerry, J.T., Álvarez-Noriega, M., Álvarez-Romero, J.G., Anderson, K.D.,
 Baird, A.H., et al. (2017). Global warming and recurrent mass bleaching of corals. *Nature* 543(7645), 373-377. doi: 10.1038/nature21707.
- Jacox, M.G., Alexander, M.A., Amaya, D., Becker, E., Bograd, S.J., Brodie, S., et al. (2022). Global seasonal forecasts of marine heatwaves. *Nature* 604(7906), 486-490. doi: 10.1038/s41586-022-04573-9.
- Jaeckle, W.B. (1995). "Variation in the size, energy content, and biochemical composition of invertebrate eggs: correlates to the mode of larval development," in *Ecology of Marine Invertebrate Larvae*. CRC Press), 49-77.

- Jerde, C.L., Kraskura, K., Eliason, E.J., Csik, S.R., Stier, A.C., and Taper, M.L. (2019). Strong evidence for an intraspecific metabolic scaling coefficient near 0.89 in fish. *Frontiers in Physiology* 10. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01166.
- Jurgens, L.J., and Gaylord, B. (2016). Edge effects reverse facilitation by a widespread foundation species. *Scientific Reports* 6(1), 37573. doi: 10.1038/srep37573.
- Karelitz, S., Lamare, M.D., Mos, B., De Bari, H., Dworjanyn, S.A., and Byrne, M. (2019).
 Impact of growing up in a warmer, lower pH future on offspring performance:
 transgenerational plasticity in a pan-tropical sea urchin. *Coral Reefs* 38(6), 1085-1095. doi: 10.1007/s00338-019-01855-z.
- Kelly, M.W., Padilla-Gamiño, J.L., and Hofmann, G.E. (2013). Natural variation and the capacity to adapt to ocean acidification in the keystone sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*. *Global Change Biology* 19(8), 2536-2546. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12251.
- Laurel, B.J., and Rogers, L.A. (2020). Loss of spawning habitat and prerecruits of Pacific cod during a Gulf of Alaska heatwave. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 77(4), 644-650. doi: 10.1139/cjfas-2019-0238.
- Lazo, C.S., and Pita, I.M. (2012). Effect of temperature on survival, growth and development of *Mytilus galloprovincialis* larvae. *Aquaculture Research* 43(8), 1127-1133. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2109.2011.02916.x.
- Leach, T.S., BuyanUrt, B., and Hofmann, G.E. (2021). Exploring impacts of marine heatwaves: paternal heat exposure diminishes fertilization success in the purple sea urchin (*Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*). *Marine Biology* 168(7), 103. doi: 10.1007/s00227-021-03915-x.

- Leach, T.S., and Hofmann, G.E. (2023). Marine heatwave temperatures enhance larval performance but are meditated by paternal thermal history and inter-individual differences in the purple sea urchin, *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*. *Frontiers in Physiology* 14. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2023.1230590.
- Lough, R.G., and Gonor, J.J. (1973). A response-surface approach to the combined effects of temperature and salinity on the larval development of *Adula californiensis* (Pelecypoda: Mytilidae). II. Long-term Larval survival and growth in relation to respiration. *Marine Biology* 22(4), 295-305. doi: 10.1007/BF00391385.
- Lowman, H.E., Emery, K.A., Dugan, J.E., and Miller, R.J. (2022). Nutritional quality of giant kelp declines due to warming ocean temperatures. *Oikos* 2022(7). doi: 10.1111/oik.08619.
- Marsh, A., and Manahan, D. (1999). A method for accurate measurements of the respiration rates of marine invertebrate embryos and larvae. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 184, 1-10. doi: 10.3354/meps184001.
- Marsh, J.B., and Weinstein, D.B. (1966). Simple charring method for determination of lipids. *Journal of Lipid Research* 7(4), 574-576.
- Massamba-N'Siala, G., Prevedelli, D., and Simonini, R. (2014). Trans-generational plasticity in physiological thermal tolerance is modulated by maternal pre-reproductive environment in the polychaete *Ophryotrocha labronica*. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 217(11), 2004-2012. doi: 10.1242/jeb.094474.
- Matson, P.G., Yu, P.C., Sewell, M.A., and Hofmann, G.E. (2012). Development under elevated pCO2 conditions does not affect lipid utilization and protein content in early

life-history stages of the purple sea urchin, *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*. *Biol Bull* 223(3), 312-327. doi: 10.1086/BBLv223n3p312.

- McBride, S.C., Price, R.J., Tom, P.D., Lawrence, J.M., and Lawrence, A.L. (2004).
 Comparison of gonad quality factors: color, hardness and resilience, of *Strongylocentrotus franciscanus* between sea urchins fed prepared feed or algal diets and sea urchins harvested from the northern California fishery. *Aquaculture* 233(1), 405-422. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2003.10.014.
- McEdward, L.R., and Miner, B.G. (2006). Estimation and interpretation of egg provisioning in marine invertebrates. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 46(3), 224-232. doi: 10.1093/icb/icj026.
- McEdward, L.R., and Morgan, K.H. (2001). Interspecific relationships between egg size and the level of parental investment per offspring in echinoderms. *The Biological Bulleton* 200(1), 33-50. doi: 10.2307/1543083.
- Menge, B.A., Daley, B.A., Wheeler, P.A., Dahlhoff, E., Sanford, E., and Strub, P.T. (1997). Benthic–pelagic links and rocky intertidal communities: Bottom-up effects on topdown control? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 94(26), 14530-14535. doi: doi:10.1073/pnas.94.26.14530.
- Merchant, C.J., Embury, O., Bulgin, C.E., Block, T., Corlett, G.K., Fiedler, E., et al. (2019). Satellite-based time-series of sea-surface temperature since 1981 for climate applications. *Scientific Data* 6(1), 223. doi: 10.1038/s41597-019-0236-x.
- Michaud, K.M., Reed, D.C., and Miller, R.J. (2022). The Blob marine heatwave transforms California kelp forest ecosystems. *Communications Biology* 5(1), 1143. doi: 10.1038/s42003-022-04107-z.
- Miller, L.P., and Dowd, W.W. (2017). Multimodal *in situ* datalogging quantifies interindividual variation in thermal experience and persistent origin effects on gaping behavior among intertidal mussels (*Mytilus californianus*). *Journal of Experimental Biology* 220(22), 4305-4319. doi: 10.1242/jeb.164020.
- Miner, C.M., Burnaford, J.L., Ammann, K., Becker, B.H., Fradkin, S.C., Ostermann-Kelm, S., et al. (2021). Latitudinal variation in long-term stability of north American rocky intertidal communities. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 90(9), 2077-2093. doi: 10.1111/1365-2656.13504.
- Minuti, J.J., Byrne, M., Hemraj, D.A., and Russell, B.D. (2021). Capacity of an ecologically key urchin to recover from extreme events: physiological impacts of heatwaves and the road to recovery. *Science of the Total Environment* 785, 147281. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.147281.
- Moran, A.L., and McAlister, J.S. (2009). Egg size as a life history character of marine invertebrates: Is it all it's cracked up to be? *The Biological Bulleton* 216(3), 226-242. doi: 10.1086/BBLv216n3p226.
- Moran, A.L., McAlister, J.S., and Whitehill, E.A.G. (2013). Eggs as energy: revisiting the scaling of egg size and energetic content among echinoderms. *The Biological Bulleton* 224(3), 184-191. doi: 10.1086/BBLv224n3p184.
- Morley, S.A., Nguyen, K.D., Peck, L.S., Lai, C.H., and Tan, K.S. (2017). Can acclimation of thermal tolerance, in adults and across generations, act as a buffer against climate change in tropical marine ectotherms? *Journal of Thermal Biology* 68, 195-199. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2016.09.007.

- Moyen, N.E., Somero, G.N., and Denny, M.W. (2019). Impact of heating rate on cardiac thermal tolerance in the California mussel, *Mytilus californianus*. *The Journal of Experimental Biology* 222(17), jeb203166. doi: 10.1242/jeb.203166.
- Moyen, N.E., Somero, G.N., and Denny, M.W. (2020). Mussel acclimatization to high, variable temperatures is lost slowly upon transfer to benign conditions. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 223(Pt 13). doi: 10.1242/jeb.222893.
- Munday, P.L. (2014). Transgenerational acclimation of fishes to climate change and ocean acidification. *F1000Prime Rep* 6, 99. doi: 10.12703/p6-99.
- Murray, C.S., Malvezzi, A., Gobler, C.J., and Baumann, H. (2014). Offspring sensitivity to ocean acidification changes seasonally in a coastal marine fish. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 504, 1-11.
- Okamoto, D.K., Schroeter, S.C., and Reed, D.C. (2020). Effects of ocean climate on spatiotemporal variation in sea urchin settlement and recruitment. *Limnology and Oceanography* 65(9), 2076-2091. doi: 10.1002/lno.11440.
- Oliver, E.C.J., Benthuysen, J.A., Darmaraki, S., Donat, M.G., Hobday, A.J., Holbrook, N.J., et al. (2021). Marine heatwaves. *Annual Review of Marine Science* 13(1), 313-342. doi: 10.1146/annurev-marine-032720-095144.
- Oliver, E.C.J., Burrows, M.T., Donat, M.G., Sen Gupta, A., Alexander, L.V., Perkins-Kirkpatrick, S.E., et al. (2019). Projected Marine Heatwaves in the 21st Century and the Potential for Ecological Impact. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 6. doi: ARTN 734 10.3389/fmars.2019.00734.

- Oliver, E.C.J., Donat, M.G., Burrows, M.T., Moore, P.J., Smale, D.A., Alexander, L.V., et al. (2018). Longer and more frequent marine heatwaves over the past century. *Nature Communications* 9. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03732-9.
- Pandori, L.L.M., and Sorte, C.J.B. (2018). The weakest link: sensitivity to climate extremes across life stages of marine invertebrates. *Oikos*.

Parker, L.M., O'Connor, W.A., Raftos, D.A., Pörtner, H.-O., and Ross, P.M. (2015).
Persistence of positive carryover effects in the oyster, *Saccostrea glomerata*, following transgenerational exposure to ocean acidification. *PLOS ONE* 10(7), e0132276. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0132276.

- Pearse, J.S. (2006). Ecological role of purple sea urchins. *Science* 314(5801), 940-941. doi: 10.1126/science.1131888.
- Perkins, S.E., Alexander, L.V., and Nairn, J.R. (2012). Increasing frequency, intensity and duration of observed global heatwaves and warm spells. *Geophysical Research Letters* 39(20). doi: 10.1029/2012GL053361.
- Perkins-Kirkpatrick, S.E., and Lewis, S.C. (2020). Increasing trends in regional heatwaves. *Nature Communications* 11(1), 3357. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-16970-7.
- Peters-Didier, J., and Sewell, M.A. (2017). Maternal investment and nutrient utilization during early larval development of the sea cucumber *Australostichopus mollis*. *Marine Biology* 164(9), 178. doi: 10.1007/s00227-017-3209-7.
- Petes, L.E., Menge, B.A., and Harris, A.L. (2008). Intertidal mussels exhibit energetic tradeoffs between reproduction and stress resistance. *Ecological Monographs* 78(3), 387-402. doi: 10.1890/07-0605.1.

- Phillips, N. (2007a). A spatial gradient in the potential reproductive output of the sea mussel Mytilus californianus. Marine Biology 151, 1543-1550. doi: 10.1007/s00227-006-0592-x.
- Phillips, N.E. (2007b). High variability in egg size and energetic content among intertidal mussels. *The Biological Bulletin* 212(1), 12-19. doi: 10.2307/25066576.
- Piatt, J.F., Parrish, J.K., Renner, H.M., Schoen, S.K., Jones, T.T., Arimitsu, M.L., et al. (2020). Extreme mortality and reproductive failure of common murres resulting from the northeast Pacific marine heatwave of 2014-2016. *PLOS ONE* 15(1), e0226087. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226087.
- Place, S.P., Menge, B.A., and Hofmann, G.E. (2012). Transcriptome profiles link environmental variation and physiological response of Mytilus californianus between Pacific tides. *Functional Ecology* 26(1), 144-155. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2011.01924.x.
- Pottier, P., Burke, S., Zhang, R.Y., Noble, D.W.A., Schwanz, L.E., Drobniak, S.M., et al. (2022). Developmental plasticity in thermal tolerance: ontogenetic variation, persistence, and future directions. *Ecology Letters* 25(10), 2245-2268. doi: 10.1111/ele.14083.
- Prowse, T.A.A., Sewell, M.A., and Byrne, M. (2008). Fuels for development: evolution of maternal provisioning in asterinid sea stars. *Marine Biology* 153(3), 337-349. doi: 10.1007/s00227-007-0809-7.
- Putnam, H.M., and Gates, R.D. (2015). Preconditioning in the reef-building coral *Pocillopora damicornis* and the potential for trans-generational acclimatization in

coral larvae under future climate change conditions. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 218(15), 2365-2372. doi: 10.1242/jeb.123018.

- Rich, J.T., Neely, J.G., Paniello, R.C., Voelker, C.C., Nussenbaum, B., and Wang, E.W. (2010). A practical guide to understanding Kaplan-Meier curves. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 143(3), 331-336. doi: 10.1016/j.otohns.2010.05.007.
- Rivera, H.E., Chen, C., Gibson, M.C., and Tarrant, A.M. (2021). Plasticity in parental effects confers rapid larval thermal tolerance in the estuarine anemone *Nematostella vectensis*. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 224(5). doi: 10.1242/jeb.236745.
- Roberts, D.A., Hofmann, G.E., and Somero, G.N. (1997). Heat-shock protein expression in *Mytilus californianus*: acclimatization (seasonal and tidal-height comparisons) and acclimation effects. *The Biological Bulletin* 192(2), 309-320. doi: 10.2307/1542724.
- Rogers, L.A., Wilson, M.T., Duffy-Anderson, J.T., Kimmel, D.G., and Lamb, J.F. (2021).
 Pollock and "the Blob": impacts of a marine heatwave on walleye pollock early life stages. *Fisheries Oceanography* 30(2), 142-158. doi: 10.1002/lno.11440.
- Rogers-Bennett, L. (2013). "Strongylocentrotus franciscanus and Strongylocentrotus purpuratus," in Sea Urchins: Biology and Ecology.), 413-435.
- Ross, P.M., Parker, L., and Byrne, M. (2016). Transgenerational responses of molluscs and echinoderms to changing ocean conditions. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 73(3), 537-549. doi: 10.1093/icesjms/fsv254.
- Sanford, E., Sones, J.L., García-Reyes, M., Goddard, J.H.R., and Largier, J.L. (2019).
 Widespread shifts in the coastal biota of northern California during the 2014–2016
 marine heatwaves. *Scientific Reports* 9(1), 4216. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-40784-3.

- Schier, A.F. (2007). The maternal-zygotic transition: death and birth of RNAs. *Science* 316(5823), 406-407. doi: 10.1126/science.1140693.
- Schulte, P.M. (2015). The effects of temperature on aerobic metabolism: towards a mechanistic understanding of the responses of ectotherms to a changing environment.
 Journal of Experimental Biology 218(12), 1856-1866. doi: 10.1242/jeb.118851.

Sconzo, G., Ferraro, M.G., Amore, G., Giudice, G., Cascino, D., and Scardina, G. (1995).
Activation by heat shock of hsp70 gene transcription in sea urchin embryos. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 217(3), 1032-1038. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1995.2873.

- Scranton, K., and Amarasekare, P. (2017). Predicting phenological shifts in a changing climate. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114(50), 13212-13217. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1711221114.
- Seed, R. (1968). Factors Influencing Shell Shape in the Mussel Mytilus Edulis. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 48(3), 561-584. doi: 10.1017/S0025315400019159.
- Seed, R., and Suchanek, T. (1992). "Population and community ecology of *Mytilus*."), 87-169.
- Seuront, L., Nicastro, K.R., Zardi, G.I., and Goberville, E. (2019). Decreased thermal tolerance under recurrent heat stress conditions explains summer mass mortality of the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis*. *Scientific Reports* 9. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-53580-W.

- Shama, L.N.S. (2015). Bet hedging in a warming ocean: predictability of maternal environment shapes offspring size variation in marine sticklebacks. *Global Change Biology* 21(12), 4387-4400. doi: 10.1111/gcb.13041.
- Shanks, A.L., Rasmuson, L.K., Valley, J.R., Jarvis, M.A., Salant, C., Sutherland, D.A., et al. (2020). Marine heat waves, climate change, and failed spawning by coastal invertebrates. *Limnology and Oceanography* 65(3), 627-636. doi: 10.1002/lno.11331.
- Shi, D., Zhao, C., Chen, Y., Ding, J., Zhang, L., and Chang, Y. (2020). Transcriptomes shed light on transgenerational and developmental effects of ocean warming on embryos of the sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus intermedius*. *Scientific Reports* 10(1), 7931. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-64872-x.
- Short, J., Foster, T., Falter, J., Kendrick, G.A., and McCulloch, M.T. (2015). Crustose coralline algal growth, calcification and mortality following a marine heatwave in western Australia. *Continental Shelf Research* 106, 38-44. doi: 10.1016/j.csr.2015.07.003.
- Sinclair, B.J., Marshall, K.E., Sewell, M.A., Levesque, D.L., Willett, C.S., Slotsbo, S., et al. (2016). Can we predict ectotherm responses to climate change using thermal performance curves and body temperatures? *Ecology Letters* 19(11), 1372-1385. doi: 10.1111/ele.12686.
- Skadsheim, A. (1989). Regional variation in amphipod life history: effects of temperature and salinity on breeding. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 127(1), 25-42. doi: 10.1016/0022-0981(89)90207-4.

- Smale, D.A., Wernberg, T., Oliver, E.C.J., Thomsen, M., Harvey, B.P., Straub, S.C., et al. (2019). Marine heatwaves threaten global biodiversity and the provision of ecosystem services. *Nature Climate Change* 9(4), 306-+. doi: 10.1038/s41558-019-0412-1.
- Smith, J.G., and Tinker, M.T. (2022). Alternations in the foraging behaviour of a primary consumer drive patch transition dynamics in a temperate rocky reef ecosystem. *Ecology Letters* 25(8), 1827-1838. doi: 10.1111/ele.14064.
- Smith, K.E., Burrows, M.T., Hobday, A.J., King, N.G., Moore, P.J., Gupta, A.S., et al. (2023). Biological impacts of marine heatwaves. *Annual Review of Marine Science* 15(1), 119-145. doi: 10.1146/annurev-marine-032122-121437.
- Somero, G.N. (2002). Thermal physiology and vertical zonation of intertidal animals:
 Optima, limits, and costs of living. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 42(4), 780-789. doi: 10.1093/icb/42.4.780.
- Somero, G.N. (2010). The physiology of climate change: how potentials for acclimatization and genetic adaptation will determine 'winners' and 'losers'. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 213(6), 912-920. doi: 10.1242/jeb.037473.
- Spencer, L.H., Venkataraman, Y.R., Crim, R., Ryan, S., Horwith, M.J., and Roberts, S.B. (2020). Carryover effects of temperature and pCO2 across multiple Olympia oyster populations. *Ecological Applications* 30(3), 02060. doi: 10.1002/eap.2060.
- Spiecker, B.J., and Menge, B.A. (2022). El Niño and marine heatwaves: Ecological impacts on Oregon rocky intertidal kelp communities at local to regional scales. *Ecological Monographs* 92(2), e1504. doi: 10.1002/ecm.1504.
- Strader, M.E., Wolak, M.E., Simon, O.M., and Hofmann, G.E. (2022). Genetic variation underlies plastic responses to global change drivers in the purple sea urchin,

Strongylocentrotus purpuratus. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 289(1981), 20221249. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2022.1249.

- Strathmann, M.F. (1987). Reproduction and Development of Marine Invertebrates of the Northern Pacific Coast Data and Methods for the Study of Eggs, Embryos, and Larvae. University of Washington Press.
- Strathmann, R.R. (1971). The feeding behavior of planktotrophic echinoderm larvae: Mechanisms, regulation, and rates of suspensionfeeding. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 6, 109-160.
- Suckling, C.C., Clark, M.S., Richard, J., Morley, S.A., Thorne, M.A.S., Harper, E.M., et al. (2015). Adult acclimation to combined temperature and pH stressors significantly enhances reproductive outcomes compared to short-term exposures. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 84(3), 773-784. doi: 10.1111/1365-2656.12316.
- Sultan, S.E. (2007). Development in context: the timely emergence of eco-devo. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 22(11), 575-582. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2007.06.014.
- Tomanek, L., and Helmuth, B. (2002). Physiological ecology of rocky intertidal organisms: a synergy of concepts. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 42(4), 771-775. doi: 10.1093/icb/42.4.771.
- Traiger, S.B., Bodkin, J.L., Coletti, H.A., Ballachey, B., Dean, T., Esler, D., et al. (2022). Evidence of increased mussel abundance related to the Pacific marine heatwave and sea star wasting. *Marine Ecology* 43(4), e12715. doi: 10.1111/maec.12715.
- Truong, K.N., Vu, N.A., Doan, N.X., Bui, C.V., Le, M.H., Vu, M.T.T., et al. (2022). Transgenerational exposure to marine heatwaves ameliorates the lethal effect on

tropical copepods regardless of predation stress. *Ecology and Evolution* 12(8). doi: 10.1002/ece3.9149.

- Verdura, J., Linares, C., Ballesteros, E., Coma, R., Uriz, M.J., Bensoussan, N., et al. (2019).
 Biodiversity loss in a Mediterranean ecosystem due to an extreme warming event unveils the role of an engineering gorgonian species. *Scientific Reports* 9(1), 5911. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-41929-0.
- Waite, H.R., and Sorte, C.J.B. (2022). Negative carry-over effects on larval thermal tolerances across a natural thermal gradient. *Ecology* 103(1), e03565. doi: 10.1002/ecy.3565.
- Weitzman, B., Konar, B., Iken, K., Coletti, H., Monson, D., Suryan, R., et al. (2021).
 Changes in rocky tntertidal community structure during a marine heatwave in the northern Gulf of Alaska. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 8. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2021.556820.
- Wernberg, T. (2021). "Marine heatwave drives collapse of kelp forests in western Australia," in *Ecosystem Collapse and Climate Change*, eds. R.B. Jackson & J.G. Canadell.), 325-343.
- Whalen, M.A., Starko, S., Lindstrom, S.C., and Martone, P.T. (2023). Heatwave restructures marine intertidal communities across a stress gradient. *Ecology* 104(5), e4027. doi: 10.1002/ecy.4027.
- White, R.H., Anderson, S., Booth, J.F., Braich, G., Draeger, C., Fei, C., et al. (2023). The unprecedented Pacific Northwest heatwave of June 2021. *Nature Communications* 14(1), 727. doi: 10.1038/s41467-023-36289-3.

- Wild, S., Krützen, M., Rankin, R.W., Hoppitt, W.J.E., Gerber, L., and Allen, S.J. (2019). Long-term decline in survival and reproduction of dolphins following a marine heatwave. *Current Biology* 29(7), R239-R240. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2019.02.047.
- Wong, J.M., and Hofmann, G.E. (2020). The effects of temperature and pCO2 on the size, thermal tolerance and metabolic rate of the red sea urchin (*Mesocentrotus franciscanus*) during early development. *Marine Biology* 167(3), 33. doi: 10.1007/s00227-019-3633-y.
- Wong, J.M., Johnson, K.M., Kelly, M.W., and Hofmann, G.E. (2018). Transcriptomics reveal transgenerational effects in purple sea urchin embryos: adult acclimation to upwelling conditions alters the response of their progeny to differential pCO2 levels.
 Molecular Ecology 27(5), 1120-1137. doi: 10.1111/mec.14503.
- Wong, J.M., Kozal, L.C., Leach, T.S., Hoshijima, U., and Hofmann, G.E. (2019).
 Transgenerational effects in an ecological context: conditioning of adult sea urchins to upwelling conditions alters maternal provisioning and progeny phenotype. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 517, 65-77. doi:

10.1016/j.jembe.2019.04.006.

- Xu, Y., Liang, J., He, G., Liu, X., Yang, K., Masanja, F., et al. (2022). Responses of pearl oysters to marine heatwaves as indicated by HSP70. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 9. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2022.847585.
- Young, R.T. (1942). Spawning season of the California mussel, *Mytilus californianus*. *Ecology* 23(4), 490-492.
- Yu, P.C., Matson, P.G., Martz, T.R., and Hofmann, G.E. (2011). The ocean acidification seascape and its relationship to the performance of calcifying marine invertebrates:

laboratory experiments on the development of urchin larvae framed by environmentally-relevant pCO2/pH. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 400(1), 288-295. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2011.02.016.

- Zhao, C., Zhang, L., Shi, D., Ding, J., Yin, D., Sun, J., et al. (2018). Transgenerational effects of ocean warming on the sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus intermedius*. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 151, 212-219. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.01.014.
- Zhao, L.Q., Shirai, K., Tanaka, K., Milano, S., Higuchi, T., Murakami-Sugihara, N., et al. (2020). A review of transgenerational effects of ocean acidification on marine bivalves and their implications for sclerochronology. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science* 235. doi: ARTN 106620

10.1016/j.ecss.2020.106620.

- Ziegler, S.L., Johnson, J.M., Brooks, R.O., Johnston, E.M., Mohay, J.L., Ruttenberg, B.I., et al. (2023). Marine protected areas, marine heatwaves, and the resilience of nearshore fish communities. *Scientific Reports* 13(1), 1405. doi: 10.1038/s41598-023-28507-1.
- Zippay, M.L., and Helmuth, B. (2012). Effects of temperature change on mussel, *Mytilus*. *Integrative Zoology* 7(3), 312-327. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-4877.2012.00310.x.